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The State Emergency 
Management Committee 
(SEMC) is the State 
Government’s peak planning 
body on emergency 
management.

The SEMC was established 
under s. 13 of the Emergency 
Management Act 2005 (the EM 
Act) and works to develop the 
best emergency management 
(EM) arrangements in Australia.

Our primary roles are to:
• advise the Minister on EM 

and the preparedness of the 
state to combat emergencies

• provide direction, advice and 
support to public authorities, 
industry, commerce and the 
community in order to plan 
and prepare for an efficient 
EM capability for Western 
Australia

• provide a forum for whole-
of-community coordination 
to ensure the effects of 
emergencies are minimised

• provide a forum for the 
development of community-
wide information systems 
to improve communications 
during emergencies

• develop and coordinate 
risk management strategies 
to assess community 
vulnerability to emergencies

• arrange for the preparation 
of state EM policies and 
plans.

The SEMC is assisted in its 
work by five subcommittees 
and two reference groups.

The Office of Emergency 
Management (OEM) provides 
executive, policy and 
administrative support to the 
SEMC in delivering on its 
strategic goals.

The 2016–17 annual report 
provides an overview of the 
work, activities and operations 
of the SEMC and the OEM.

Overview
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From the SEMC Chair

The Report of the Special 
Inquiry into the January 2016 
Waroona Fire prepared by 
Euan Ferguson AFSM, which 
was tabled in Parliament 
on Thursday 23 June 2016, 
foreshadowed significant 
reforms in emergency 
management in Western 
Australia. We welcome the 
steps undertaken by State 
Government agencies 
and stakeholders towards 
implementing the report’s 
recommendations.

A key recommendation 
resulted in the State 
Emergency Management 
Committee (SEMC) Secretariat 
being rebranded as the Office 
of Emergency Management 
(OEM) from 1 December 2016. 
While the OEM continues 
to support the SEMC, it 
has additional recovery and 
assurance responsibilities 
to government and the 
community in respect of 
emergency management (EM).

Another achievement was 
the establishment of the 
State Bushfire Coordinating 
Committee (SBCC) as a 
subcommittee of the SEMC. 
The SBCC, which is chaired 
by the Director of the Office 
of Bushfire Risk Management 
within the Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services 
(DFES), has immediately 
focused on the challenging 
task of developing a bushfire 
management policy for the 
state.

The report also recommended 
the creation of a Rural Fire 
Service. A wide range of views 
were heard from stakeholders 
at a bushfire mitigation summit 
held in Mandurah in June.  
I represented the SEMC at 
the summit, which addressed 
a number of bushfire 
management issues, including 
rural fire management. 

The summit, together 
with the associated public 
submission process, will assist 
in considering future bushfire 
mitigation strategies.

Last year’s SEMC Emergency 
Preparedness Report focused 
on events that stretched us, 
particularly the January 2016 
Waroona fire that devastated 
the town of Yarloop and cost 
two people their lives. With 
the destruction of 181 homes 
and businesses, this event 
necessitated a much more 
comprehensive and exhaustive 
recovery operation than had 
been the case in recent history. 
With extreme events more 
common, the Waroona fire 
highlighted the importance of 
being prepared for recovery as 
well as for response.

Frank Edwards 
Chair

WITH EXTREME EVENTS 
MORE COMMON, 
THE WAROONA FIRE 
HIGHLIGHTED THE 
IMPORTANCE OF BEING 
PREPARED FOR RECOVERY 
AS WELL AS FOR 
RESPONSE.
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From the SEMC Chair

The Preparedness Report also 
found that Western Australia 
has a largely committed, 
engaged, equipped, capable 
and cooperative EM sector. 

However, it indicated that while 
engagement is substantial, 
it is still not universal. Much 
work remains for the EM sector 
ahead.

The District Risk Assessment 
Reports released by the 
OEM in June are an outcome 
of the SEMC State Risk 
Project, which commenced 
in 2013. The reports form the 
culmination of many years of 
work. They provide a body 
of objective evidence that 
can help inform investment 
decisions with a preference 
towards prevention and 
preparedness activities. 
Together with the OEM, the 
SEMC has been examining 
the potential for a whole-of-
government and community 
mitigation approach.

I would like to thank SEMC 
members for their commitment 
to working together to 
continually improve EM in this 
state. There have been, or will 
soon be, a significant number 
of membership changes. I wish 
those who have left, or are in 
the process of leaving, well in 
their future endeavours.

Frank Edwards CSC
Chair
State Emergency Management 
Committee
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From the OEM  
Executive Director

Welcome to the combined 
annual report of the State 
Emergency Management 
Committee and Office of 
Emergency Management.

It is my pleasure to welcome 
the new State Recovery 
Coordinator, Steve Joske 
CSC, who was appointed in 
February, and the Recovery 
team, which transferred from 
the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (DPC). In addition, 
two officers from the Office 
of Bushfire Risk Management 
joined the new OEM Assurance 
team.

Soon after joining the OEM, 
Steve and his team had to deal 
with a major flooding event 
in January and February that 
affected 92 local governments. 

The team successfully 
negotiated with the 
Commonwealth for special 
recovery grants to assist 
primary producers in the 
shires of Lake Grace and 
Ravensthorpe and the City 
of Swan, who were severely 
affected by the floods. 

The team also developed a 
proposal that enabled local 
governments to use their own 
labour, plant and equipment 
in recovery of essential public 
assets. Further challenges 
lie ahead with new natural 
disaster recovery funding 
arrangements due to come into 
effect in 2018.

The OEM’s assurance function 
is still in development with 
discussions occurring with 
the Minister for Emergency 
Services and the SEMC. 

The Assurance team has been 
tracking recommendations 
made in previous major 
incident reviews, which will 
be included in a lessons 
management framework.  
This framework will 
complement a future 
assurance framework and 
will incorporate the holistic 
management of lessons and 
recommendations.

The OEM has been a 
member of the Ferguson 
Implementation Working Group 
chaired by the DPC, which has 
progressed and implemented 
the Ferguson Report’s 
recommendations and 
opportunities for improvement. 
From July 2017, the OEM will 
take over the responsibility of 
chairing the working group.

Mal Cronstedt 
Executive Director

I WOULD LIKE TO THANK 
THE SEMC FOR ITS 
GUIDANCE AND OEM STAFF 
WHO HAVE SEAMLESSLY 
FORMED A COHESIVE NEW 
OFFICE WHILE CONTINUING 
TO PROVIDE A HIGH 
QUALITY SERVICE.
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From the OEM Executive Director

The OEM assisted the office 
of the Minister for Emergency 
Services in preparing for 
and conducting the bushfire 
mitigation summit held in 
Mandurah in June 2017. We 
look forward to working with 
the Minister as he considers 
the issues raised to guide 
future bushfire mitigation 
strategies.

Since 2013, Western Australia 
has been garnering a 
consistent and comprehensive 
understanding of EM risks 
related to the 27 hazards 
prescribed in state legislation. 
District Risk Assessment 
Reports, which analyse the top 
five or six hazards per district, 
are now published and will 
guide future work programs.

Consultation for the State 
Capability Project and 
associated documentation has 
been completed. Some of the 
learnings acquired during this 
process will be incorporated 
into the existing Preparedness 
Report capability model and 
data collection tool.

With the completion of the suite 
of state EM documents in May, 
the OEM has commenced 
detailed project planning for 
the remaining phases of the 
Policy and Governance Review 
Project.

Lastly, I would like to thank 
the SEMC for its guidance 
and OEM staff who have 
seamlessly formed a cohesive 
new office while continuing to 
provide a high quality service.

Thank you.

Mal Cronstedt  
AFSM, MBA, BA
Executive Director
Office of Emergency 
Management
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The year in review

• Completed district-level 
rollout of the State Risk 
Project, published all eight 
District Risk Assessment 
Reports and commenced 
rollout to local governments

• Completed a major review 
and update of the WA 
State-level Risk Assessment: 
Seven Sudden Onset Natural 
Hazards

• Released the WA Emergency 
Risk Management Local 
Government Handbook and 
a range of supporting tools

• Released the Emergency 
Preparedness Report 2016 
and developed a revised 
Capability Framework

• Implemented or progressed 
relevant recommendations 
and opportunities for 
improvement from the 
Report of the Special Inquiry 
into the January 2016 
Waroona Fire, prepared by 
Euan Ferguson AFSM

• Established the State 
Bushfire Coordinating 
Committee as a 
subcommittee of the SEMC

• Coordinated the recovery 
from a major flooding 
event that affected 92 local 
governments in January and 
February 2017

• Distributed over $1 million in 
state and federal grants to 
52 resilience projects

• Assisted the Minister for 
Emergency Services in 
arranging and conducting 
the bushfire mitigation 
summit held in June 2017

• Published our first SEMC 
bulletin – Strategic control 
priorities for the hazard of fire 
and two EM aides-memoire

• Conducted a post-cyclone 
and southern bushfire 
season review

• Hosted a federal-state 
pre-season preparedness 
briefing including the 
Western Australian 2016 
Resilient Australia Awards

• Secured hosting rights to the 
2017 Australasian Natural 
Hazards Management 
Conference

• Launched a completely 
revised OEM website.

Major projects and 
achievements
Office of Emergency 
Management established
The State Emergency 
Management Committee 
Secretariat became the Office 
of Emergency Management 
from 1 December 2016.

The OEM was established as 
a result of recommendations 
of the Report of the Special 
Inquiry into the January 2016 
Waroona Fire prepared by 
Euan Ferguson AFSM.

OEM is a sub-department of 
the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services (DFES)*.  
It retained the same role as the 
former SEMC Secretariat of 
supporting the SEMC. 

However, the Office has 
also taken on the recovery 
function, transferred from the 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (DPC), and a new 
assurance function.

The assurance function is still 
under development though 
tracking of past incident inquiry 
recommendations is underway.

*   For the purpose of this report, OEM is a  
sub-department of DFES only with respect  
to the Financial Management Act 2006

The mitigation imperative – 
building a resilient WA
Following notable progress 
in building our understanding 
of the state’s risk and 
capability profile, the SEMC 
is considering the next steps, 
including a stronger focus on 
mitigation.

Every year in Australia, 
natural disasters result in 
loss of life, displacement of 
population, and environmental 
and infrastructure damage, 
incurring significant costs to 
individuals and governments.

The National Strategy for 
Disaster Resilience reports that 
based on scientific modelling, 
climate change will likely result 
in an increased frequency and 
severity of extreme weather 
events. 

Highlights
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The year in review

The impact of such events 
may be heightened by denser 
urban development, an ageing 
population, increased reliance 
upon support services, 
reduced ability to prepare 
properties and reduced 
numbers or availability of 
emergency volunteers.

Recovery – new OEM 
function
The year has been dominated 
by flooding that covered 
2.8 million sq km in 92 local 
government areas in early 2017.

The Flooding in Western 
Australia (January and 
February) event was declared 
a natural disaster and the 
Western Australia Natural 
Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements (WANDRRA) 
were activated.

Major achievements during this 
disaster activation were:
• the introduction of a 

temporary exemption which 
enables local governments 
to use their own resources 
when repairing local roads 
and other essential public 
assets. This is on the 
condition that value for 
money can be demonstrated 
when comparing rates with 
contractors

• successful negotiations 
to obtain Category C 
Recovery Grants from the 
Commonwealth to assist 
eligible primary producers in 
three local government areas 
(the shires of Ravensthorpe 
and Lake Grace and the City 
of Swan). The grants enabled 
the primary producers to 
claim the costs of clean-
up and restoration of their 
businesses.

State Recovery Coordinator 
Steve Joske visited a number 
of flood-affected shires and 
conducted detailed briefings 
with CEOs.

He also visited the shires of 
Harvey and Waroona, where 
the communities are still 
recovering from the devastating 
bushfires in January 2016.

Figure 1. Emergency Services Minister Fran Logan met the crew from the Geraldton 
Volunteer Marine and Rescue Service to listen to their concerns and thank them for their 
service
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The year in review

These visits have helped shape 
the team’s vision for how the 
state’s Recovery function can 
contribute to a more disaster-
prepared and resilient WA. This 
vision includes incorporating 
a more balanced approach 
between repairing infrastructure 
after a disaster event and 
supporting the recovery of 
people and communities.

State EM Policy and 
Governance Review Project
A number of phases of 
the State EM Policy and 
Governance Review Project 
were executed during the 
reporting year.

An important project milestone 
was the release of the revised 
suite of EM documents. 
EM arrangements in WA 
are established through a 
legislative and policy 
framework, which incorporates 
this suite of documents.

A review of the policy content 
of EM arrangements to identify 
potential enhancements 
commenced during the year. 

This phase offers the 
opportunity to look at best 
practice in EM so the state is 
in the best position to prevent, 
prepare for, respond to and 
recover from emergencies.

Consultative activities 
have taken place this year 
involving a broad range of EM 
stakeholders and included 
consultations, workshops and 
a survey. 

Two other phases of the 
project that are currently being 
undertaken are: updating EM 
procedures and rationalising 
and converting the current 
Westplans into hazard specific 
plans. These plans will then 
become subplans of the State 
Emergency Management Plan.

Resilient Australia Awards 
2016 – winners and 
ceremony
The Resilient Australia Awards 
is a national program that 
recognises and promotes 
initiatives that strengthen 
community disaster resilience.  
The awards, in their 17th 
year, are sponsored by the 
Commonwealth Attorney-
General’s Department together 
with the states and territories. 
OEM is the state’s awards 
convenor on behalf of the 
Minister for Emergency Services.

By celebrating innovation and 
exemplary practice, the awards 
showcase work that is often 
unseen, motivating others to 
think about how they can be 
better prepared and more 
disaster resilient.

Figure 2. Bells Rapids on the Swan River during the Flooding in Western Australia event 
Image courtesy of the City of Swan local government. 
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The year in review

Applications are judged first 
at the state level and winners 
become finalists for national 
judging and the chance to win 
a National Resilient Australia 
Award.

State awards
The winners were presented 
trophies, for each of the 
categories, at a state award 
ceremony held on 4 October 
2016 at the Constitutional 
Centre of Western Australia.

The Western Australian 
winners were eligible for and 
participated in the National 
Awards held in Canberra.

In the photography category 
of the state awards, the 
winning photo ‘By Sea and 
By Air’ was taken by DFES 
photographer Jason Harris. 
The photo depicts the Jurien 
Bay Volunteer Marine Rescue 
Service conducting a training 
exercise with the RAC Rescue 
helicopter on 29 June 2016.

Figure 3. The 2016 People’s Choice winning photograph

Table 1. Western Australian winners

Award category Organisation Project / Initiative

Resilient Australia Business 
Award (state winner)

Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry WA

Regional Business Resilience 
Project

Resilient Australia Government 
Award (state winner)

Department of 
Health and Bureau of 
Meteorology

Regional variation in vulnerable 
population to heatwave in Western 
Australia project

Resilient Australia Government 
Award (state highly commended)

Office of Bushfire Risk 
Management and DFES

Guidelines for preparing a Bushfire 
Risk Management Plan and 
implementation of the bushfire risk 
management system
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The year in review

Bushfire mitigation summit
A bushfire mitigation summit 
was held on 23 June 2017 in 
Mandurah.

The purpose of the summit 
was to guide future strategies 
to mitigate bushfires in Western 
Australia. The summit heard 
stakeholders’ views on a 
range of bushfire management 
issues, including the delivery of 
rural fire management.

The OEM assisted the Minister 
for Emergency Services to 
arrange and conduct the event. 
In addition to the summit, 
members of the public and 
interested organisations were 
encouraged to develop public 
submissions.

Ideas and issues were 
collected at the summit and in 
the public submissions process 
on how to lessen the impact of 
bushfires.

Grants
Natural Disaster Resilience 
Program
The National Partnership 
Agreement on Natural 
Disaster Resilience between 
the Attorney-General’s 
Department (AGD) and 
the State Government 
delivers the Natural Disaster 
Resilience Program (NDRP). 
The OEM oversees the 
program in Western Australia, 
which focuses on reducing 
community vulnerability 
to natural disasters and 
addresses priorities outlined 
in the National Strategy for 
Disaster Resilience.

In December 2015, the 
AGD advised of a two-year 
extension to the agreement to 
30 June 2017. This extension 
awarded Western Australia 
an additional $6.3 million to 
distribute for natural disaster 
resilience activities. In August 
2016, the SEMC made 
recommendations (which 
were subsequently approved 
by State and Commonwealth 
Ministers) to allocate the 
additional funds to the following 
programs:

Table 2. NDRP allocations

Program Amount 
($000)

NDRP Competitive Grants Program 2,200

State Risk Project Phase 4 1,050

State Risk Project Phase 5 1,060

State Capability Project 700

State Response & Capability Support 100

State Community Engagement Support 100

State Recovery Support 100

TOTAL 6,300

The OEM liaised with State and Commonwealth Ministers to 
execute the implementation plan outlining these programs, and in 
December 2016 the distribution of funds was approved.

The NDRP Competitive Grants Program was launched 
immediately after, with 12 individual projects receiving funds.  
With the mandate that NDRP funds can account for up to only  
50 per cent of the total project cost, investment in Western 
Australia via the program is over $2.8 million, with a second round 
to be called to distribute the remaining $1 million.
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The year in review

Table 3. AWARE successful applicants

Organisation Project Name Sum

City of Melville City of Melville Desktop Exercise 
– LEMA

 $3,500

City of Albany Recovery Exercise and Workshop  $10,153
City of Albany Building Local Community 

Awareness and Resilience
 $12,000

Shire of Victoria 
Plains

Emergency Awareness Workshop  $7,000

Shire of Moora Emergency Awareness Workshop  $7,000
WA Police EM aide memoir for newsrooms  $5,000
Rangelands 
NRM

Dampier Peninsular Fire 
Management

 
$32,500

Eastern 
Metropolitan 
Regional 
Council

Understanding and Managing 
Flood Risk in Perth: stages 2  
and 3

 
$20,000

Shire of 
Plantagenet

‘Fire – know your risks, know your 
brigade’ Campaign

 $3,870

Shire of Capel Shire of Capel Interagency EM 
Field Exercise

 $6,000

City of 
Mandurah

The Equi-Evac Centre Network  
$20,000

WA SES, 
Mounted 
Section

WA Horse Council Accredited 
Large Animal Rescue Training

 $9,760

Department of 
Parks & Wildlife

Emergency Wildlife Preparedness: 
Oiled Wildlife Response

 $13,520

Shire of 
Donnybrook–
Balingup

Shire of Donnybrook–Balingup 
LEMA 2017

 
$20,000

Shire of 
Dardanup

Bethanie Esprit Exercise 
(Evacuation & Registration)

 $6,000

Shire of Murray Local EM Arrangement Review  
$20,000

Shire of Murray Community Evacuation Field 
Exercise

 $5,042

Chamber of 
Commerce and 
Industry of WA

Business Continuity Recovery Kit  
$19,000

Shire of Harvey Ready and Resilient 
Preparedness Project – part A

 $9,000

All West Australians 
Reducing Emergencies 
(AWARE) program
The state-funded grants 
program – the All West 
Australians Reducing 
Emergencies (AWARE) 
program – is an additional 
competitive grants program 
offered annually by the OEM. 
The program is an OEM 
initiative.

In 2016–17 the program 
was used to enhance EM 
arrangements by building EM 
capability and knowledge at 
both the district and local level.

Each year the OEM assesses 
need within the community 
in terms of EM. The following 
categories were aligned to the 
AWARE program this year:
• risk treatments
• local EM arrangements
• exercises
• community education and 

research.

Successful applicants for 
the 2016–17 round were 
announced in June 2016, 
allowing projects to start in  
July 2016.

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

13



The year in review

Natural Bushfire Mitigation 
Program
OEM also supports the 
steering committee of the 
National Bushfire Mitigation 
Program (NBMP) and 
manages associated funds. 
This Commonwealth-funded 
program supports the delivery 
of fuel reduction activities and 
long-term bushfire mitigation.

In October 2016, the State 
and Commonwealth Ministers 
announced the successful 
applicants to the NBMP 
Competitive Grants Program. 
Sixteen projects were 
funded in this round, taking 
total investment in bushfire 
mitigation across the state to 
$2.2 million for this program 
over the three-year period.

The agreement with the 
Commonwealth to deliver  
this program ended on  
30 June 2017. Over the course 
of the three-year agreement, 
39 projects were funded. 
The funding distributed 
throughout Western Australia 
has strengthened existing 
bushfire mitigation programs 
by supporting effective land 
management strategies, 
with both management and 
recipient agencies appreciating 
and recognising the benefit 
these projects have in helping 
reduce bushfire risk.
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Operational structure

Figure 4. SEMC and OEM operational structure

Department of Fire  
and Emergency Services 

(DFES)

State Emergency 
Management Committee 

(SEMC)

Office of Emergency 
Management (OEM)

Minister for Emergency Services 
Hon. Francis Logan MLA

SEMC  
Subcommittees 
and Reference 

Groups

District 
Emergency 

Management 
Committees 

(DEMCs)

Local 
Emergency 

Management 
Committees 

(LEMCs)

Sub-department*

Assurance
Business 
Services

Office 
of the 

Executive 
Director

Recovery
Risk and 

Resilience

* OEM is a sub-department of DFES only with respect to the Financial Management Act 2006.
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Operational structure

Responsible Minister
Hon. Francis Logan MLA
Minister for Emergency 
Services; Corrective Services

Enabling legislation
The SEMC is established by 
s. 13(1) of the Emergency 
Management Act 2005. The 
OEM assists the Minister 
for Emergency Services in 
the administration of the 
Emergency Management Act 
2005.

Other key legislation 
impacting on the activities of 
the SEMC and the OEM
In the preparation of its 
function, the SEMC and the 
OEM comply with the following 
relevant legislation and codes:

Legislation
Auditor General Act 2006
Competition and Consumer 
Act 2010
Copyright Amendment (Digital 
Agenda) Act 2000
Corruption and Crime 
Commission Act 2003
Criminal Code Act 1995
Disability Discrimination Act 
1992
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 2007
Electronic Transactions Act 
2011

Employment Dispute 
Resolutions Act 2008
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Evidence Act 1995
Financial Management Act 
2006
Freedom of Information Act 
1992
Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986
Government Financial 
Responsibility Act 2000
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Minimum Conditions of 
Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984
Privacy Act 1988
Public Interest Disclosure Act 
2003
Public Sector Management Act 
1994
Racial Discrimination Act 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Superannuation Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 
1991
Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981

Codes 
Western Australian Public 
Sector Code of Ethics 2008

Employing Authority (OEM)
Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services – Fire 
and Emergency Services 
Commissioner
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SEMC membership
Members as at 30 June 2017
• Mr Frank Edwards CSC, 

Independent SEMC Chair
• Ms Sue Ash AO, 

Independent SEMC 
Member; SEMC Deputy 
Chair

• Mr Richard Simpson, 
Independent SEMC Member

• Mr Mal Cronstedt AFSM, 
SEMC Executive Officer; 
OEM Executive Director

• Dr Karl O’Callaghan 
APM, SEMC Member; 
Commissioner, WA Police

• Dr Wayne Gregson 
APM, SEMC Member; 
Commissioner, Fire and 
Emergency Services

• Mr Peter Conran AM, SEMC 
Member; Director General, 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (until August 
2016)

• Mr David Smith, SEMC 
Member; A/Director General, 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (from October 
2016)

• Mr James Sharp: SEMC 
Member; Director General, 
Department of Parks and 
Wildlife

• Dr David (Russ) Russell-
Weisz, SEMC Member; 
Director General, 
Department of Health

• Ms Emma White, SEMC 
Member; A/Director 
General, Department for 
Child Protection and Family 
Support

• Ms Ricky Burges PSM, 
SEMC Member; CEO, 
Western Australian Local 
Government Association

Deputy Members who 
acted as proxies during the 
reporting period ending  
30 June 2017
• Mr Geoff Hay: proxy 

for Director General, 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet

• Dr Andrew Robertson: 
proxy for Director General, 
Department of Health

• Mr Peter Dans: proxy 
for Director General, 
Department of Parks and 
Wildlife

• Mr Gary Dreibergs: proxy for 
Commissioner, WA Police

• Ms Helen Gladstones: 
proxy for Director General, 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet

• Mr Damien Stewart: proxy 
for Director General, 
Department for Child 
Protection and Family 
Support

• Ms Jodie Holbrook: 
proxy for CEO, Western 
Australian Local Government 
Association

Member updates
2016
• Mr Peter Conran – vacated 

office
• Mr David Smith – appointed 

Member as Director General 
of Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (ex-officio 
appointment)

• Mr Geoff Hay – appointed 
Deputy Member to Director 
General of Department of 
the Premier and Cabinet

• Mr Richard May – appointed 
Deputy Member to Director 
General of Department of 
the Premier and Cabinet

• Ms Helen Gladstones – 
appointed Deputy Member 
to Director General of 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet

• Mr Damien Stewart – 
appointed Deputy Member 
to Director General of 
the Department for Child 
Protection and Family 
Support

2017
• Mr Geoff Hay – resigned as 

Deputy Member to Director 
General of Department of 
the Premier and Cabinet

• Mr Richard May – resigned 
as Deputy Member 
to Director General of 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet
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Report on activities
The EM structure in Western 
Australia follows a three-tiered 
hierarchy, as established by the 
Emergency Management Act 
2005. The following pages will 
explain the role of the SEMC 
Subcommittees and Reference 
Groups, District Emergency 
Management Committees and 
Local Emergency Management 
Committees within the SEMC 
structure.

District Emergency 
Management Committees 

(DEMCs)

Local Emergency 
Management 

Committees (LEMCs)

State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC)

SEMC Subcommittees 
and Reference Groups

SEMC meetings
During the reporting period 
ending 30 June 2017, SEMC 
members held the following 
meetings:
• four ordinary meetings on 

2 August 2016, 6 December 
2016, 28 March 2017, 2 May 
2017

• one special meeting on 
4 October 2016 (Emergency 
Preparedness Report)

• two out-of-session meetings 
on 2 September 2016, 
27 June 2017.

Figure 5. Western Australian emergency management structure
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Table 4. Attendance at SEMC meetings

Name

Ordinary 
meeting 2 
August 2016

Preparedness 
Report 
meeting 4 
October 2016

Out-of-
session 
meeting 
2 September 
2016

Ordinary 
meeting 
6 December 
2016

Ordinary 
meeting 
28 March 
2017

Ordinary 
meeting 
2 May 2017

Out-of-
session 
meeting 
27 June 2017

Mr Frank 
Edwards

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ No 
Response

Ms Sue Ash ✔ ✔ No 
Response

– ✔ ✔ No 
Response

Mr Mal Cronstedt ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr Richard 
Simpson

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ – ✔ No 
Response

Dr Karl 
O’Callaghan

Observer 
Mr 

Stephen 
Brown

Observer 
Mr Paul 
Zanetti

✔ Proxy 
Mr Gary 

Dreiburgs

Proxy 
Mr Gary 

Dreiburgs

Observer 
Mr Paul 
Zanetti

✔

Dr Wayne 
Gregson

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

*Mr Peter Conran Proxy 
Mr Geoff 

Hay

Observer 
Mr David 

Smith

No longer 
SEMC 

member

No longer 
SEMC 

member

No longer 
SEMC 

member

No longer 
SEMC 

member

No longer 
SEMC 

member
*Mr David Smith N/A N/A N/A ✔ ✔ Proxy Ms 

Helen 
Gladstones

N/A

Ms Emma White ✔ Observer 
Mr Damien 

Stewart

No 
response

Proxy 
Mr Damien 

Stewart

Observer 
Mr Kim 
Dean

Proxy 
Mr Damien 

Stewart

No 
Response

Mr James Sharp ✔ ✔ No 
response

Proxy 
Mr Peter 

Dans

✔ Proxy 
Mr Peter 

Dans

✔

Dr David  
Russell-Weisz 

Observer 
Dr Tarun 
Weera-
manthri

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Proxy 
Dr Andrew 
Robertson

Ms Ricky Burges ✔ Proxy 
Ms Jodie 
Holbrook

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr Jarad 
Finneran 
(invitee on behalf 
of Minister Joe 
Francis MLA)

✔ ✔ N/A ✔ – N/A N/A

Ms Mia Onorato-
Sartori (invitee on 
behalf Minister 
Francis Logan 
MLA)

N/A N/A N/A N/A – ✔ N/A

*     Mr Peter Conran left office in August 2016. His replacement, Mr David Smith, attended the October meeting as an observer until his appointment was 
confirmed in December 2016.
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SEMC subcommittees and reference groups
Section 21 of the Emergency Management Act 2005 allows the SEMC to establish such 
subcommittees as it thinks fit to advise the SEMC on any aspect of its functions or to assist with any 
matters relevant to the performance of its functions. Subcommittees may, but need not, consist of or 
include members of the SEMC.

State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC)

Response 
Capability  

Sub committee

State Bushfire 
Coordinating 
Committee

Community 
Engagement 

Sub committee

District 
Emergency 

Management 
Committees 

(DEMCs)

Local 
Emergency 

Management 
Committees 

(LEMCs)

Recovery  
Sub committee

Risk  
Sub committee

Essential 
Services 
Network 

Operators 
Reference  

Group

Public 
Information 
Reference  

Group

Figure 6. Organisational chart for SEMC subcommittees and reference groups

New SEMC Subcommittee
In response to 
Recommendation 16 of 
the Ferguson Report, the 
SEMC established a new 
subcommittee – the State 
Bushfire Coordinating 
Committee (SBCC). The 
coordinating committee 
came into effect on 1 January 
2017 and is chaired by the 
DFES Director of the Office of 
Bushfire Risk Management.

SBCC key responsibilities:
• develop a State Bushfire 

Management Policy and a 
set of long-term bushfire risk 
management objectives

• provide a forum for 
stakeholder agencies in 
bushfire risk management

• advise the SEMC on matters 
pertaining to bushfire; in 
particular, to report against 
the investment in, and 
achievement of, bushfire risk 
management objectives

• report to the SEMC and to 
the community on bushfire 
risk management matters at 
least annually.
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SEMC Subcommittees and Reference Groups – key achievements
Each subcommittee and reference group reports to the SEMC on their annual activities.  
Table 5 highlights their activities during the financial year ending 30 June 2017.

Table 5. SEMC subcommittees and reference groups – key achievements

Subcommittee / 
reference group Objective No. 

meetings Key achievements

Community 
Engagement 
Subcommittee

Chair: Mr Steve 
Fewster, Deputy 
Commissioner 
Capability, DFES

Sponsor: Dr 
Wayne Gregson 
APM, Fire and 
Emergency Services 
Commissioner

A/Executive 
Officer: Mr Ron de 
Blank, OEM

To support 
the SEMC in 
strengthening 
resilience by 
providing advice 
on community 
engagement, 
initiatives, education 
programs and by 
looking for synergies 
between programs.

2 • Completed Social Media Framework.
• Contributed to drafting Australian 

disaster resilience handbook: 
Communities responding to disasters: 
planning for spontaneous volunteers.

• Started Get Set Together, an all-
hazard preparedness program.

• Drafted strategy review of ‘Keeping 
Our Mob Safe’ for remote indigenous 
communities.

• Released ‘Together we can: Western 
Australian Emergency Services 
volunteer sustainability Strategy 
2016–2024’.

Response 
Capability 
Subcommittee

Chair: Mr Gary 
Dreibergs, Deputy 
Commissioner, 
Specialist Services, 
WA Police

Sponsor: Dr Karl 
O’Callaghan APM, 
Commissioner of 
Police

Executive Officer: 
Ms Kelli Williams, 
OEM

To provide a forum 
that promotes 
collaborative and 
strategic dialogue 
to consider and 
promote strategies 
to address capability 
gaps in the state’s 
emergency 
response.

3 • Coordinated presentation session for 
35 delegates in September. Topics:
– Transformation of the electricity 

market
– Joint Intelligence Capability Project
– NBN emergency management 

briefing.
• Reviewed, noted and endorsed 

relevant procedures for Westplans and 
exercise reports.

• Oversaw State Crisis Information 
Management System (SCIMS), 
WebFusion and Animals in 
Emergencies projects.
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Subcommittee / 
reference group Objective No. 

meetings Key achievements

Recovery 
Subcommittee

Chair: Ms Sue Ash 
AO

Sponsor: Ms Sue 
Ash AO

A/Executive 
Officer:  
Ms Katherine Clarke, 
OEM

To provide a forum 
for promoting and 
supporting the 
development and 
maintenance of 
emergency recovery 
capability.

3 • Represented the WA emergency 
services sector on the National 
Recovery Committee.

• Contributed to the development and 
implementation of the National Impact 
Assessment Tool.

• Reviewed workplan and key activity 
targets. Projects progressed:
– Waste Management Project will 

proceed with funding allocation from 
NDRP.

– Public Donations Project was 
divided into four subprojects. The 
Lord Mayor’s Distress Relief Fund 
review will be the first part. The 
City of Perth has reviewed and 
established new arrangements 
for the use of this fund. Three 
other parts relating to donations of 
goods, donations of services and 
donations using social media will be 
progressed in the year ahead.

Risk Subcommittee

Chair: Mr Mal 
Cronstedt AFSM, 
OEM

Sponsor: Mr Frank 
Edwards CSC, 
SEMC Chair

Executive Officer: 
Mr Andrew Sanders, 
OEM

To act as a reference 
group to consult 
and advise on 
ways to improve 
the coordination 
and application 
of an evidence-
based approach 
to emergency risk 
management for all 
hazards.

2 • Released Emergency Risk 
Management Handbook.

• Published eight state District Risk 
Assessment Reports. 

• Contributed chapters on risk profiling 
to Emergency Preparedness Report.

• Continued development of hazard and 
risk information in OEM knowledge 
hub and risk assessment tools.

• Released hazard videos.
• Revised state-level risk assessments 

for seven sudden-onset natural 
hazards.

• Updated Bushfire Prone Mapping. 
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Subcommittee / 
reference group Objective No. 

meetings Key achievements

State Bushfire 
Coordinating 
Committee (SBCC)

Chair: Mr Murray 
Carter, Office 
of Bushfire Risk 
Management

Sponsor:  
Dr Wayne Gregson 
APM, Fire and 
Emergency Services 
Commissioner

To identify and 
oversee the 
implementation of 
bushfire-related 
risk treatments 
throughout WA that 
are efficient, effective 
and sustainable.

Promote interagency 
cooperation and 
interoperability and 
the effectiveness 
of arrangements 
between agencies, 
local governments 
and volunteers.

2 • Developing State Bushfire 
Management Policy.

• Completed background research and 
proposed a mechanism to prioritise 
expenditure on bushfire mitigation 
grants.

• Formally adopted the Bushfire 
Research Working Group and the 
Training and Development Working 
Group as subcommittees of the 
SBCC.

Public Information 
Reference Group 
(PIRG)

Chair: Mr Neil 
Stanbury, WA Police

To provide advice 
and support to 
the SEMC and its 
subcommittees 
in relation to 
arrangements for 
the provision of 
emergency public 
information and 
public awareness 
related to EM in 
Western Australia.

4 • Developed, published and distributed 
to all newsrooms in Western Australia 
the ‘EM Guide for Newsrooms’. The 
guide provides an overview of EM 
arrangements from a media and public 
information perspective. Funded by 
the AWARE Program.

• Developed support resources for the 
State Emergency Public Information 
Coordinator (SEPIC) and Deputy 
SEPICs to ensure consistent approach 
taken to responding to L3 (severe) 
emergencies.

• Conducted intragovernment crisis 
communications workshop to enhance 
support staff options under the State 
Emergency Public Information Plan 
(SEPIP).

• Maintained exercise program testing 
State Public Information Line, SEPIC 
and Emergency Media Centre 
arrangements under the SEPIP.

• Secured ‘Recovery Communications’ 
funding under NDRP, and with the 
support of Australian Red Cross, to 
progress ‘Recovery Communications’ 
project. AWARE Program funding 
secured for a State Public Information 
Line exercise in 2017-18.
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Subcommittee / 
reference group Objective No. 

meetings Key achievements

Essential Services 
Network Operators 
Reference Group 
(ESNORG)

Chair: Mr Mark 
Vassiliou, Main 
Roads Western 
Australia

Executive Officer:  
Ms Sarah Clarke,  
Water Corporation

To provide a forum 
for the exchange of 
information that will 
assist or improve 
the operation of 
essential services or 
functions in relation 
to EM for the benefit 
of the community.

4 • Continued Operations Centres 
Networking Group for exchange 
of information and networking 
opportunities.

• Provided representation to projects 
and working groups of the OEM.

• Reviewed policies, plans and guides 
as requested.

• Shared learnings from incidents and 
exercises within ESNORG.

• Provided representation on Response, 
Recovery and Risk subcommittees.

• DFES representative included on 
ESNORG, promoting closer working 
relationships with emergency services 
providers.

• Transitioned to OEM portal for meetings 
and documentation action list.

District emergency management committees

District Emergency 
Management 

Committees (DEMCs)

Local Emergency Management 
Committees (LEMCs)

State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC)

SEMC Subcommittees 
and Reference Groups

The Emergency Management 
Act 2005 establishes EM 
districts in Western Australia 
and district emergency 
management committees 
(DEMCs). There are seven EM 
districts in the regions and four 
in the Perth metropolitan area.

The DEMCs are an integral 
part of the state’s EM structure. 
Their members come from 
state and local government 
agencies, service providers 
and community agencies that 
have a key role in prevention, 
preparedness, response and 
recovery activities in their 
districts.

Figure 7. District emergency management committee positioning in SEMC structure
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DEMCs are led by the Police 
Superintendent (Chair) and the 
DFES Superintendent (Deputy 
Chair) in each district.

DEMCs form an important 
conduit between state 
and local-level emergency 
management. They are key 
forums for relationship building, 
bringing together decision 
makers from EM agencies, 
industry and local government 
to discuss EM issues affecting 
their district.

District EM advisors
Regional Services continues to 
provide support to EM districts 
through their network of District 
Advisors (DAs).

The key role of DAs is to 
engage people across their 
districts to enhance EM abilities 
and capacities, and build 
resilience.

The DAs provide executive 
officer support to the DEMCs 
and provide advice and 
knowledge to local government 
and local emergency 
management committees 
(LEMCs).

The DAs promote prevention, 
preparedness, response 
and recovery activities and 
are a conduit between the 
regions and the OEM on a 
wide range of topics including 
EM policy and legislation, 
recovery activities, WANDRRA 
funding, risk assessment, 
capability development and 
preparedness, and annual 
reporting.

DAs are located in Albany, 
Bunbury, Geraldton, Northam 
and Broome. There are 
also two DAs in the Perth 
metropolitan area.

Some key activities from the 
districts during the reporting 
year follow:

Great Southern
• Focused on risk assessment 

at district and local scale.
• One of first regions to 

complete district-level risk 
assessment. Followed up 
with treatments and options 
to mitigate risks.

• Analysed results of 
Emergency Preparedness 
Report capability survey 
specific to the region, 
identifying gaps and areas 
for improvement in capacity 
and ability.

• Combined with Esperance 
in cross-boundary exercise 
focusing on skills and 
resources highlighted in 
Capability Framework.

• Participated in significant 
recovery work after floods 
in February, with DA acting 
as conduit between State 
Recovery Coordinator and 
local governments.

South West
• Experienced a relatively quiet 

fire season.
• Although not as heavily 

impacted as neighbouring 
districts, some involvement 
with February floods.

• Planning follow-up treatment 
after completion of district-
level risk assessment.

• Planning for multi-agency 
risk workshop in early 2017–
18 to cover hazards involving 
several local governments.

Metropolitan (North, East, 
Central and South)
• City of Swan heavily 

impacted by floods in 
February. Grape growers 
lost an estimated 
$15 million (farm-gate 
value) and wine makers 
$2 million. DAs supported 
recovery strategies of local 
government.

• DAs led executive officers 
forum for metropolitan 
LEMCs to share best 
practice, and collaborate on 
ways to enhance EM and 
build capability within local 
government.

• In consultation with local 
government, planning for 
local-level risk workshops.

• Conducted cross-boundary 
exercise with Wheatbelt 
DEMC to highlight 
cooperation across agency 
and district boundaries.

• Completed two district-
level risk workshops for the 
hazards of Flood, Storm, 
HAZMAT and Heatwave.

• Held pre-season recovery 
briefing on the January 
2016 Waroona fire on 
6 December 2016. Members 
of four metropolitan DEMCs 
participated.
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• Drafted resource-sharing 
MOU for response 
and recovery with the 
South Metropolitan local 
government DEMC, including 
surrounding shires of 
Boddington and Serpentine–
Jarrahdale.

Wheatbelt
• Heavy flooding in January 

and February impacted the 
district, with DA assistance in 
sharing recovery information.

• Several workshops held with 
Department of Water and 
Bureau of Meteorology to 
better understand river flood 
warnings.

• Conducted district-level risk 
assessments and treatment 
workshops.

• Planning underway for 
rollout of local-level risk 
assessments, with delivery 
of NERAG-compliant 
products, particularly in Shire 
of Cunderdin.

• Conducted cross-
boundary exercise with 
North Metropolitan DEMC 
to highlight coordination, 
communication and resource 
and skill sharing required in 
large-scale events.

Goldfields–Esperance
• Impacted by floods in 

January and February, 
including isolation of 
the Tjuntjuntjara remote 
Aboriginal community in the 
Great Victoria Desert.

• Conducted cross-boundary 
exercise with Great Southern 
to highlight coordination, 
communication and resource 
and skill sharing and to 
look for gaps and areas for 
improvement in capacity and 
ability.

• Planning for local-level risk 
assessments in Leonora, 
Laverton and Menzies in 
early 2017–18.

Midwest
• Heavily impacted by 

monsoon rain events 
throughout 2016–17.

• Involved with biosecurity 
measures implemented 
against destructive tomato 
potato psyllid (TPP) and 
cucumber mosaic virus.

• Hosted interactive workshop 
as training for public event 
management, following 
DEMC involvement with 
400-year anniversary of 
Dirk Hartog’s landing off the 
Western Australia coast in 
1616.

• DA involved in rail incident 
response and evacuation 
exercise.

• Planning underway to 
enhance community links 
for EM, including aged care 
groups, hospitals, welfare 
agencies and schools.

Kimberley
• Supported all Kimberley 

local governments during 
the 2016–17 wet season, 
providing advice in relation to 
WANDRRA funding. DA was 
the conduit between local 
governments and the State 
Recovery Coordinator. The 
2016–17 wet season was 
the biggest in a decade with 
local governments suffering 
more than $20 million in 
damage to local roads due 
to flooding including during 
January and February 2017.

• Provided WANDRRA advice 
and updates for numerous 
Operational Area Support 
Group (OASG) activations in 
the past 12 months.

• Progressed OEM’s risk 
assessment training among 
local governments and 
LEMCs to achieve buy-
in for the local level risk 
assessment rollout. A 
number of local governments 
will be undertaking this 
training early in the 2017–18 
financial year.

Pilbara
• Supported all Pilbara 

local governments during 
the 2016–17 wet season, 
providing advice in relation to 
WANDRRA funding. DA was 
the conduit between local 
governments and the State 
Recovery Coordinator.

• Flooding event in the Shire 
of East Pilbara isolated 
the remote Aboriginal 
community of Kiwirrkurra 
in the Western Desert for 
nearly two months.
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• Pilbara DEMC completed its 
District Risk Assessments. 
Hazards assessed were 
Air Crash, Cyclone, Flood, 
Human Epidemic and Marine 
Transport Emergency.

• DA assisted DFES and the 
Bureau of Meteorology 
in the pre-wet season 
preparedness tour including 
community engagement 
activities which promoted 
preparedness initiatives.

• Progressed OEM’s risk 
assessment training among 
local governments and 
LEMCs to achieve buy-
in for the local level risk 
assessment rollout. A 
number of local governments 
will be undertaking this 
training early in the 2017–18 
financial year.

DEMC forum
The 3rd annual DEMC forum 
was held at Technology Park 
in Bentley, Perth, on 27 June 
2017. DEMC Chairs and 
Deputy Chairs attended the 
forum which covered a wide 
range of topics, including the 
key work areas of the DEMC, 
roles and responsibilities. 

Almost 50 people attended 
this year’s forum, including 
representatives from WA 
Police, DFES, OEM, SEMC, 
Emergency Management 
Australia and the Department 
of Agriculture and Food, 
Western Australia (DAFWA).

The key theme was the 
importance of DEMC 
leadership in EM. The forum:
• encouraged collaborative 

work across boundaries
• engendered a preparedness 

and resilience mindset
• gathered valued input from 

broad stakeholders
• encouraged participation 

and continual development 
to maintain momentum 
under conditions of changing 
leadership and a changing 
government environment.

The forum was hosted by 
SEMC Chair Frank Edwards. 
Guest speakers included Mark 
Crosweller, Director General 
of Emergency Management 
Australia, and Mark Webb, 
acting Director General DAFWA.

Mr Crosweller spoke on 
the concept of catastrophic 
disaster planning and how 
uniformed services can best 
adapt their approach based 
on an escalating hazard and 
disaster impact environment.

Mr Webb spoke about 
leadership and challenges 
faced by DAFWA with the 
recent discovery of the 
damaging insect pest, the 
tomato potato psyllid, in 
Western Australia and the 
resultant biosecurity response.

A panel discussion focused 
on future leadership in EM and 
current challenges related to 
machinery of government and 
leadership changes.

Andrew Sanders (OEM Director 
Risk and Resilience) spoke 
about new district risk reports 
and the State Recovery 
Coordinator, Steve Joske, 
spoke about the future of 
recovery activities, which now 
reside under the OEM.

Figure 8. Participants in the DEMC forum held in Bentley, Perth, on 27 June 2017
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The forum closed with a 
workshop that explored:
• roles and responsibilities of 

DEMCs and their relationship 
to other positions and 
committees

• roles and responsibilities 
of the Chair and Deputy 
and ideas for enhancing 
preparedness and resilience 
activities

• methods to enhance cross-
boundary coordination.

This annual event provides a 
great opportunity to appreciate 
the important role of the DEMC 
and of DEMC leadership. 
It creates awareness of 
current new initiatives and 
directions in EM in a changing 
environment. It also provides 
a better understanding of the 
preparedness and resilience 
concepts and methods that 
can be applied across the 
districts and DEMCs.

Planning has begun for the 
next forum in 2018.

Local emergency management committees

District Emergency 
Management Committees 

(DEMCs)

Local Emergency 
Management 

Committees (LEMCs)

State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC)

SEMC Subcommittees 
and Reference Groups

Figure 9. Position of local emergency management committees within the SEMC structure

Section 38 of the EM Act 
requires a local government to 
establish one or more LEMCs. 
The LEMCs advise and assist 
local government to ensure that 
local emergency management 
arrangements (LEMAs) are 
established, reviewed and 
tested in accordance with  
s. 39 of the Act.

The LEMCs have 
representation from 
organisations and agencies 
that play a role in EM within 
each area. Local governments 
are particularly important, 
providing expert knowledge 
about their communities and 
environments.  

It is the role of local 
government not only to ensure 
that LEMAs are prepared and 
maintained, but also to manage 
recovery after an emergency.

Under s. 40 of the EM Act, all 
LEMCs are required to prepare 
and submit to their district’s 
DEMC an annual report on 
activities during the financial 
year.
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Status of Local Emergency 
Management Arrangements 
(LEMAs)
Figure 10 indicates the number 
of LEMAs per EM district, 
categorised as follows:
• LEMAs that are current
• LEMAs that are overdue for 

review
• LEMAs that are current but 

nearing their review due 
date.

Districts that have local 
governments with LEMAs 
outstanding (i.e. LEMAs that 
have never been noted by the 
SEMC) are indicated in red.

Note: The number of LEMAs 
expected from an EM district 
may be different from the 
number of local governments in 
the district because some local 
governments have more than 
one LEMA while other local 
governments combine for the 
purposes of EM, resulting in a 
reduced number of LEMAs.

Figure 10. Status of local emergency management arrangements as at 30 June 2017
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The State Emergency Management Framework

Figure 11. The State Emergency Management Framework

Policy and legislation updates
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State Emergency Management Guidelines
The State Emergency Management Guidelines are prepared to assist personnel in conducting 

their role, by proposing methods for conducting activities, and are not formal instructions.

State Emergency Management Plan and Westplans
The State Emergency Management Plan and Westplans are prepared under s.18 of the Emergency Management 

Act 2005 to outline State arrangements for the emergency management of hazards and support functions.

State Emergency Management Procedures
The State Emergency Management Procedures are developed when a procedural activity needs to be 
explained through a step by step process, allowing Emergency Management Agencies and personnel 

to complete tasks in compliance with State Emergency Management Policy.

Emergency Management Act 2005

Emergency Management Regulations 2006

State Emergency Management Policy
The State Emergency Management Policy is prepared in accordance with s. 17 of the Emergency Management 

Act 2005. Amendments may arise if there is a requirement to prescribe a formal instruction or process as a result 
of amendment to governing legislation or an SEMC resolution. This shall ensure clearly defined roles 

and responsibilities of all parties involved and is supported by the following documents.

It is important to review policy and legislation to 
ensure it meets the contemporary needs of EM 
stakeholders. Developments in this reporting 
period include:
• phase 4A of the seven-phase Policy and 

Governance Review Project completed and 
phase 4B started

• Emergency Management Amendment Bill 2016 
progressed through to the Legislative Council, 
where it was read for the first and second 
times on 16 August 2016. However, the Bill did 
not progress further prior to the proroguing of 
Parliament before the March 2017 State election.
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• planning improved for 
rescue of animals during 
emergencies

• joint work with WA Police 
and key stakeholders to 
implement WebFusion –  
a communications hub that 
allows sharing of information 
in the crisis information 
management system, 
WebEOC.

Of the Ferguson Report, at 
the time of reporting OEM had 
carriage of two opportunities 
for improvement and five 
recommendations. The OEM:
• completed two opportunities 

for improvement:
– traffic management aide 

memoire
– recovery aide memoire.

•  addressed five 
recommendations:
– underway

– establishing assurance 
function

– identifying priorities for 
strategic control

– instituting voluntary 
registration of farmer 
fire-fighting units

– improving traffic 
management systems 
for emergencies

– completed
– established the State 

Bushfire Coordinating 
Committee.

Changes to EM legislation
There were no changes to 
emergency management 
legislation during the year.

Changes to suite of EM 
documents
In December 2016, the SEMC 
approved amendments to the 
suite of EM documents for 
Western Australia. The new 
documents, which came into 
effect on 6 December, are:
• State Emergency 

Management Policy (State 
EM Policy)

• State Emergency 
Management Plan  
(State EM Plan)

• State Emergency 
Management Procedures 
(State EM Procedures)

• All Hazards Evacuation 
Flagging Guideline

• State Emergency 
Management Guidelines 
(State EM Guidelines):
– Traffic Management during 

Emergencies Guideline
– District Emergency 

Management Committee 
Administrative Guideline

– Local Recovery Guideline
– Local Emergency 

Management 
Arrangements Guideline

– Western Australia 
Community Evacuation 
in Emergencies Guideline 
and model.

Details of specific 
amendments are available 
at: www.oem.wa.gov.au/
resources/legislation-and-
policy-framework/policy-
amendments.

The SEMC also approved 
policy topics and individual 
projects for review in 2017. 
These topics and projects 
were identified in the Policy 
and governance review 
project: phase 4(a) – key 
findings report. The reviews 
aim to enhance the State EM 
Framework.

Following the release of the 
Ferguson Report on the 
January 2016 Waroona fire, the 
policy section of the OEM:
• carried out additional work 

to review and implement 
improved policies on 
traffic management during 
emergencies

• developed an aide memoire 
for agencies to use during 
the recovery phase of an 
emergency

• developed amendments 
to State EM Response 
Procedure 20 – Australian 
Government Physical 
Assistance.

In addition, the SEMC issued 
SEMC bulletin no. 1 in October 
2016 to notify stakeholders 
that the state had adopted the 
DFES strategic control priorities 
for fire as state strategic control 
priorities for the prescribed 
hazard of Fire. There are six 
priorities, with the protection 
and preservation of life being 
the fundamental priority. 
These priorities are designed 
to underpin and guide all 
decisions made during EM 
responses to fire in Western 
Australia.  
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The bulletin was developed as 
a response to recommendation 
no. 6 of the Ferguson Report.

Changes to State EM plans 
(Westplans)
The SEMC approved the 
following revised Westplans:
• Revised Westplan – 

Earthquake (August 2016)
• Updated Westplan – Marine 

Transport Emergency.

The SEMC also revoked 
Westplan – Telecommunications 
in December 2016.

Hazard management 
agencies
Westplans form part of the 
State EM plan in Western 
Australia. They provide 
strategic, state-level 
arrangements for managing 
the particular hazards to which 
they apply.

Table 6 shows the status of all 
Westplans, including exercises 
undertaken and state-level 
activations that tested hazard 
management agency (HMA) 
Westplans for the period  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.

Some Westplans are currently 
being rationalised to ensure 
EM activities for hazards 
with similar consequences 
are considered together 
within one plan. This will 
improve coordination and 
reduce inconsistencies in EM 
arrangements, particularly 
when different HMAs manage 
similar hazards.

Table 6. HMA state emergency management plans – status and testing, 2016–17

Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

1 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Air Crash 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard 
Plan Crash 
Emergency

Air crash

Exercise Penzance, 
18 Aug 2016

Discussion exercise 
Praeparo, 26 May 
2017

Nil

2 Agriculture 
Director 
General

Westplan 
Animal 
and Plant 
Biosecurity 
(current)

Animal or plant pests  
or diseases

Nil Tomato 
Potato 
Psyllid, 
Feb 2017
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

3 State Health 
Coordinator 
(Biological)

Westplan 
Chemical, 
Biological, 
Radiological 
and Nuclear 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Human 
Biosecurity

Biological substance  
HAZMAT – biological

(Actual or impending spillage, release or 
escape of a biological substance that is 
capable of causing loss of life, injury to 
a person or damage to the health of a 
person, property or the environment)

Nil1 Nil

4 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner 
(Chemical)

Westplan 
Hazardous 
Materials 
Emergen-
cies 
[HAZMAT] 
(under 
review)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
HAZMAT

Chemical substance 
HAZMAT – chemical

(Actual or impending spillage, release or 
escape of a chemical, radiological or other 
substance that is capable of causing loss 
of life, injury to a person or damage to 
the health of a person, property or the 
environment)

Hydrogen Fluoride, 
Aug, Sept & Oct 
2016
BP & KIMA Access, 
July 2016
Chlorine gas and 
Pesticide (x 4),  
Sept 2016

LPG Explosion, 
Oct 2016
Sulphur Explosion, 
Nov 2016
Aluminium 
Phosphide, Dec 
2016

Nil

5 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Collapse 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Name to be 
determined

Collapse
(Injury or threat to life of persons trapped 
by the collapse of a structure or landform)

Urban Search and 
Rescue (USAR) 
Practical x 6,  
Jan–June 2017

Nil

1 State Health Coordinator is only the HMA for the spillage/release of biological substance component of this hazard. This component is being rationalised 
into the Human Biosecurity Hazard Plan and will be tested in the 2017-18 year.
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

6 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Cyclone 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Severe 
Weather

Cyclone

SPIRO – State-level 
– Multi-Hazard,  
Oct 2016

Nil

7 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Earthquake 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Name to be 
determined

Earthquake

Discussion 
Exercise – NC 
Metropolitan,  
Jan 2017

Nil

8 Coordinator of 
Energy

Westplan 
Electricity 
Supply 
Disruption 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Energy 
Supply 
Disruption

Electricity supply 
disruption

(Loss of or interruption to the supply of 
electricity that is capable of causing or 
resulting in loss of life, prejudice to the 
safety, or harm to the health of a person)

Nil 2 Nil

9 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Fire (current)

Fire

SPIRO – State-level 
– Multi-Hazard,  
Oct 2016

Nil

2 Westplan Electricity Supply Disruption was exercised on 14 June 2016 and is anticipated to be exercised in Q1 2018. Elements of this Westplan were 
considered during Westplan Gas Supply Disruption related incidents.
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

10 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Flood 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Severe 
Weather

Flood

Aqua – State Storm 
and Flood, 
Aug 2016

Flooding 
in Western 
Australia, 
Jan & Feb 
2017

11 Coordinator of 
Energy

Westplan 
Gas Supply 
Disruption 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Energy 
Supply 
Disruption

Gas supply disruption

(Loss of or interruption to the supply of 
natural gas that is capable of causing or 
resulting in loss of life, prejudice to the 
safety, or harm to the health of a person)

Nil Karratha 
Gas Plant 
Outage, 
April 2017

12 State Health 
Coordinator

Westplan 
Heatwave 
(current)

Heatwave

Nil 3 Nil

13 State Human 
Epidemic 
Controller

Westplan 
Human 
Epidemic 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Human 
Biosecurity

Human epidemic

Nil 4 Nil

3 Anticipated activation of this Westplan did not occur. The plan is under revision and will be tested/exercised in the 2017-18 financial year.

4 Westplan Human Epidemic is under revision and being rationalised into the Human Biosecurity Hazard Plan, which will be tested in the 2017-18 financial year.
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

14 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Land Search 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Name to be 
determined

Land search
(for persons lost or in distress that 
requires a significant coordination of 
search operations)

Nil Oper-
ational 
Land 
Search in 
January 
2017 
tested 
elements 
of 
Westplan 
Land 
Search

15 Coordinator of 
Energy

Westplan 
Liquid Fuel 
Supply 
Disruption 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Energy 
Supply 
Disruption

Liquid fuel supply 
disruption

(Loss of or interruption to the supply of 
liquid fuel as defined in the Liquid Fuel 
Emergency Act 1984 (Cwlth) s. 3(1) that is 
capable of causing or resulting in loss of 
life, prejudice to the safety, or harm to the 
health of a person)

Liquid Fuel State 
Exercise, 
Oct 2016

Nil

16 Marine Safety, 
General 
Manager

Westplan 
Marine Oil 
Pollution 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Maritime 
Environ-
ment 
Emergency

Marine oil pollution

(Actual or impending spillage, release 
or escape of oil or an oily mixture that is 
capable of causing loss of life, injury to 
a person or damage to the health of a 
person, property or the environment)

Marine Oil Pollution 
State Exercise, 
Sept 2016

Marine Oil Pollution 
discussion 
exercise, 
April 2017

Nil
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

17 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Marine 
Search and 
Rescue 
[MARSAR] 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Name to be 
determined

Marine search
(For persons lost or in distress on inland 
waterways within the limits of a port or in 
a fishing vessel or pleasure craft within the 
limits of a port or at sea)

Nil Oper-
ational 
Marine 
Search in 
Sept 2016 
tested 
elements 
of 
Westplan 
Marine 
Search

18 Marine Safety, 
General 
Manager

Westplan 
Marine 
Transport 
Emergency 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Maritime 
Environ-
m ent 
Emergency

Marine transport 
emergency

(Actual or impending event involving a 
ship that is capable of causing loss of life, 
injury to a person or damage to the health 
of a person, property or the environment)

Marine Transport 
Emergency State 
Exercise, 
Sept 2016

Nil

19 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner 
(Other 
substance)

Westplan 
Hazardous 
Materials 
Emer-
gen cies 
[HAZMAT] 
(under 
review)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
HAZMAT

Other Substance 
(HAZMAT)

(Actual or impending spillage, release or 
escape of a chemical, radiological or other 
substance that is capable of causing loss 
of life, injury to a person or damage to 
the health of a person, property or the 
environment)

Exercised in 
conjunction with 
other Hazardous 
Materials e.g. 
Radiation and 
Chemical

Nil
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

20 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Nuclear 
Powered 
Warships 
(NPW) 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
HAZMAT

Radiation escape from a 
nuclear-powered warship

Exemption granted 
by SEMC

Nil

21 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner 
(Radiological)

Westplan 
Hazardous 
Materials 
Emer-
gencies 
[HAZMAT] 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
HAZMAT

Radiological Substance
(Actual or impending spillage, release or 
escape of a chemical, radiological or other 
substance that is capable of causing loss 
of life, injury to a person or damage to 
the health of a person, property or the 
environment)

Nil

Arrangements are 
practiced as part of 
NPW arrangements 
for every visit

Nil
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Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

22 Public 
Transport 
Authority 
(PTA) Network 
(passenger)

Westplan 
Rail Crash 
PTA (current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard 
Plan Crash 
Emergency

Rail crash

Rail Tunnel Fire, 
Oct 2016

Nil

Brookfield 
Rail Pty Ltd 
(freight) 5

Westplan 
Brookfield 
Rail Crash 
Emer  -
gencies 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard 
Plan Crash 
Emergency

Nil 6 Nil 7

23 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Road Crash 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard 
Plan Crash 
Emergency

Road crash

Exemption granted 
by SEMC

Nil

5 On 17 July 2017, Brookfield Rail changed its name to Arc Infrastructure.

6 Westplan Brookfield Rail arrangements are expected to be exercised in Q1 2018.

7 Westplan Brookfield Rail arrangements were activated on 24 March 2016.

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

39



The State Emergency Management Committee

Hazard 
management 
agency

Hazard 
specific plan 
(status) Hazard

Name and date of 
Westplan exercise

Name and 
date of 
state-level 
incident

24 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Space Re-
entry Debris 
[SPRED] 
(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
HAZMAT

Space re-entry debris

Exemption granted 
by SEMC

Nil

25 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Storm

(current)

To be 
rationalised 
into State 
Hazard Plan 
Severe 
Weather

Storm

Aqua – State Storm 
and Flood, 
Aug 2016

Exercise Prepare – 
Storm, Nov 2016

Nil

26 Commissioner 
of Police

Westplan 
Terrorist Act 
(current)

Terrorist act

Multi-agency 
tactical exercise 
Feb 2017

Nil

27 Fire and 
Emergency 
Services 
Commissioner

Westplan 
Tsunami

(current)

Tsunami

Indian Ocean Wave 
– National and 
State level 
Sept 2016

Nil

In accordance with State EM Policy Statement 4.8.5, where the response part of a Westplan is activated or arrangements used during an emergency, this 
activation may satisfy the field exercise requirement. This is provided the agency involved prepares and submits a post-incident report that meets the post-
exercise report requirements, as detailed in State EM Preparedness Procedure 19.

WA Police has a formal exemption for exercising Road Crash, Space Re-entry Debris (SPRED) and Nuclear Powered Warships (NPW) this year. Road Crash 
is daily business, and although unlikely to impact at a state level, SPRED/NPW are seen as very low likelihood events, and NPW arrangements are practised 
regularly for every visit, despite the state never having had a radiation escape. Land Search and MARSAR have submitted post-incident analyses in lieu of 
an exercise this year (Land Search incident Jan 2017 and MARSAR incident Sept 2016). Terrorist Act is exercised under Australia – New Zealand Counter-
Terrorism Committee (ANZCTC) arrangements, reporting to ANZCTC, and has been further exercised at a national, state and district level. Exercises are also 
conducted as part of training in land and marine search and rescue across the state. 
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Agency in focus
The OEM (previously the SEMC 
Secretariat) is a branch of state 
government that supports 
the SEMC and Minister for 
Emergency Services. The 
OEM, a sub-department of 
the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services (DFES), 
carries out the SEMC’s day-to-
day operations and projects, 
and provides administrative 
support. From its establishment 
on 1 December 2016, the OEM 
has also taken on the recovery 
function, transferred from the 
Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (DPC), and a new 
assurance function.

The DFES annual report should 
be read in conjunction with 
this report. Links between 
reports are provided where 
appropriate.

Senior officers
Mal Cronstedt AFSM – Executive Director

Mal Cronstedt commenced his career in  
the fire service as a volunteer in 1976 and 
then joined full-time in 1982, progressing 
through the ranks across the state in a 
variety of operational and support roles. 
He undertook a secondment to Fire & 
Rescue NSW (then NSW Fire Brigades) 
in 2003–04 and in 2005 joined the NSW 
Rural Fire Service as the Blue Mountains 
Superintendent.

Mal returned to Western Australia in 2008 as Fire and Emergency 
Service Authority’s Rural Operations Coordinator South. He was 
subsequently appointed as Chief Superintendent Country South 
in July 2012, upon the creation of the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services (DFES).

Mal was appointed inaugural Director of the Office of Bushfire 
Risk Management in August 2012. In August 2014 he became 
Executive Director of the State Emergency Management 
Committee (SEMC) Secretariat (now OEM). Mal is an ex-officio 
member of the SEMC, Chair of the SEMC Risk subcommittee, 
member of the State Bushfire Coordinating Committee and 
member of the DFES Audit and Risk Committee. In addition, he 
is Chair of the Development Disability WA board, and sits on the 
Kensington Secondary School board as an independent member.

Mal holds a Master of Business Administration, a Graduate 
Diploma in Disaster Management and a Bachelor of Arts. He is 
a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, the 
Institution of Fire Engineers and the Australia and New Zealand 
School of Government’s Executive Fellows Program.
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Andrew Sanders  
– Director Risk and 
Resilience

Andrew Sanders has had 
a diverse public sector 
career, commencing 
in the early 1990s. For 
10 years, he worked in 
marine, agricultural and 

mineral exploration sciences across a number of 
government departments in Western Australia.

Andrew subsequently spent eight years in 
Singapore as a national and Olympic sports coach 
and as CEO of one of the country’s largest sports 
organisations, developing international elite sports 
programs and events.

During his mineral exploration and sports 
management roles he developed particular 
experience in organisational, financial, events 
and operational risk management.

Andrew holds a Bachelor of Science in Geology 
and Information Technology, a Master of 
Science in Mineral Economics, a Master of 
Business Administration and is a Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Andrew joined the State Emergency 
Management Committee (SEMC) Secretariat 
(now OEM) in 2012 and was involved with 
scoping and development of the inaugural 2012 
Western Australian Emergency Preparedness 
Report. He has led development of the 
State Risk Project since 2013. He has also 
represented Western Australia on the national 
risk subcommittee (RAMMS) since 2014.

Andrew is presently the Director of Risk and 
Resilience and manages OEM’s regional 
operations as well as overseeing the ongoing 
strategic risk and capability profiling of the 
state and production of the annual Emergency 
Preparedness Report.

Steve Joske CSC – State 
Recovery Coordinator

In March 2017 Steve was 
appointed State Recovery 
Coordinator.

In March 2003 Steve 
joined the Red Cross as 
Executive Director for 
Western Australia after 

a long career in the Australian Army, including 
being the first Commander of the Australian 
Contingent to the Truce Monitoring Group in 
Bougainville. He was awarded the Conspicuous 
Service Cross in the 1998 Queen’s Birthday 
Honours for his service in Bougainville.

In August 1998 he was reassigned as Colonel 
Olympic Games and Chief of Staff to Operation 
Gold, responsible for the planning and conduct 
of the Australian Defence Force’s security 
operations at the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games.

Steve resigned from the Australian Defence 
Force in 2000 and joined WMC as the Human 
Resources Manager at Leinster Nickel Operation 
in Western Australia.

As well as being the Executive Director of Red 
Cross WA, Steve served at the international level 
as Country Manager in Indonesia controlling 
ARC’s post-tsunami recovery operations, and he 
led the national business improvement project 
and IT infrastructure upgrade for the Red Cross.

Steve has a Masters Degree in Defence Studies 
from Deakin University. He has previously served 
on the boards of the Western Australian Council 
of Social Service (WACOSS), Leadership WA and 
the AIF Malaya Nursing Scholarship.
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Outcome statement
To develop the best emergency 
management arrangements in 
Australia.

Organisation structure
To support the SEMC in 
meeting its strategic priorities 
and legislative requirements, 
the OEM is made up of five 
sections: Assurance, Business 
Services, Office of the 
Executive Director, Recovery, 
and Risk and Resilience.

Table 7. OEM organisational chart and key responsibilities

Assurance 
Director 
M Leclercq

Business Services 
A/Director  
J Murgia

Office of the 
Executive 
Director 

A/Executive 
Manager  
R de Blank

Recovery 
State Recovery 
Coordinator 
S Joske

Risk and 
Resilience
Director 
A Sanders

– Develops, monitors, 
reviews and 
assesses state’s 
EM arrangements, 
plans, policies, 
systems and 
procedures

– Supports 
stakeholders in 
reviews of policies 
and plans

– Administers EM Act 
on behalf of SEMC

– Provides specialist 
policy advice and 
education on 
responsibilities 
under EM Act

– Oversees 
financial 
management 
and annual 
reporting

– Manages 
human 
resources and 
OSH

– Manages 
Information 
technology

– Administers 
grants

– Manages 
records

– Manages 
corporate risk

– Provides 
administrative 
support 
to SEMC 
and sub-
committees

– Provides 
high-level 
support for 
Executive 
Director and 
Corporate 
Leadership 
Team

– Coordinates 
whole-of-
government 
approach 
to recovery, 
working with 
agencies, local 
governments 
and the 
community

– Promotes 
emergency 
recovery 
capability at 
federal, state 
and local level

RISK and 
CAPABILITY
– Oversees the 

State Strategic 
Risk Framework 
and State Risk 
Project

– Develops the 
State Strategic 
Capability 
Framework and 
State Capability 
Project

– Oversees 
production of 
the Emergency 
Preparedness 
Report

– Promotes 
consistent 
profile of risk 
across the state 
from all priority 
hazards

The OEM comprises 37.57 
full-time equivalents who are 
employed by DFES, which 
provides support services in 
human resources, finance and 
information technology.
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Assurance 
Director 
M Leclercq

Business Services 
A/Director  
J Murgia

Office of the 
Executive 
Director 

A/Executive 
Manager  
R de Blank

Recovery 
State Recovery 
Coordinator 
S Joske

Risk and 
Resilience
Director 
A Sanders

– Provides Executive 
Officer support 
to select SEMC 
subcommittees

– Drafts high-level 
correspondence for 
SEMC and OEM 
Executive

– Manages 
development of 
EM Assurance 
Framework

– Tracks status of 
incident and inquiry 
recommendations 
on behalf of SEMC

– Coordinates 
delivery of 
services 
provided 
by Office of 
Executive 
Director

– Manages 
internal and 
external com-
munications, 
including 
publications 
and website

– Provides 
Executive 
Officer and 
administra-
tive support 
to SEMC 
community 
engage-
ment sub-
committee

– Reviews local 
government 
Recovery 
Arrangements 
Framework

– Represents 
state on national 
recovery 
committees

– Participates 
in State 
Emergency 
Coordination 
Group meetings 
and provides 
state-level 
recovery advice

– Liaises with local 
government 
CEOs and 
Local Recovery 
Coordinator(s) 
during 
emergencies to 
ensure recovery 
arrangements 
are established

– Oversees 
and manages 
Western 
Australia Natural 
Disaster Relief 
and Recovery 
Arrangements 
(WANDRRA)

– Works to 
ascertain 
strategic 
capability and 
resources 
required in 
relation to risk 
profile

– Advises 
agencies 
on hazards, 
vulnerabilities 
and 
methodologies 
of risk 
assessment

– Develops policy 
advice and 
guidance for 
implementing 
risk 
management 
and capability

– Contributes 
to continuous 
improvement

– Contributes to 
development 
of Capability 
Framework

– Represents 
state on national 
subcommittee
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The Office of Emergency Management

Assurance 
Director 
M Leclercq

Business Services 
A/Director  
J Murgia

Office of the 
Executive 
Director 

A/Executive 
Manager  
R de Blank

Recovery 
State Recovery 
Coordinator 
S Joske

Risk and 
Resilience
Director 
A Sanders

– Consults and 
negotiates 
with the 
Commonwealth 
on WANDRRA, 
and liaises with 
other state 
jurisdictions 
on emerging 
recovery models

– Prepares 
Cabinet 
submissions, 
briefing 
notes, media 
statements 
and high-level 
correspondence 
for the Premier, 
Minister, media 
and community 
on state 
and national 
emergency 
recovery 
management

– Provides 
Executive 
Officer and 
administrative 
support to 
SEMC recovery 
subcommittee

REGIONAL 
SERVICES
– Supports local 

governments’ 
EM 
arrangements, 
through LEMCs

– Provides 
executive 
support to 
DEMCs

– Assists local 
governments 
to establish 
recovery 
management 
arrangements 
following major 
emergency 
events

– Contributes to 
development 
of SEMC policy 
and procedures, 
particularly 
in relation 
to local and 
district level EM 
arrangements 
and recovery

– Advises local 
governments 
and districts 
stakeholders on 
risk, capability 
and EM issues

– Develops 
resources 
and events to 
promote EM 
awareness in 
the community
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Performance  
management framework

Outcome-based 
management framework
The core business of the OEM 
is to support the government’s 
goal of ‘Results-based service 
delivery: greater focus on 
achieving results in key service 
delivery areas for the benefit of 
all Western Australians’.

Many initiatives also contribute 
towards the government’s 
goals of ‘Social and 
environmental responsibility’ 
and ‘A stronger focus on the 
regions’.

Changes to outcome-based 
management framework
The outcome-based 
management structure of the 
SEMC Secretariat (now OEM) 
was approved in 2013 for 
inclusion in the 2013–14 annual 
reporting period. There were 
no changes to the framework 
in 2016–17.

Outcome

Effective strategic 
coordination of emergency 
management

Key effectiveness indicator

Stakeholder assessment of 
strategic coordination and 
quality management

Key efficiency indicator

Average hourly cost of 
providing emergency 
management advice and 
consultation

Service

Emergency management 
advice and consultation

 




Figure 12. Outcome-based management structure

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The OEM supports the SEMC, five key subcommittees and 
several important working groups. Each element comprises 
organisational executives and senior personnel from a range of 
public sector agencies and private organisations. The ongoing 
involvement of all parties is critical to the success of the agency 
and the progression of EM arrangements across the state.
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Performance management framework

2.  Significant 
Issues 
Impacting 
on the OEM
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Current and emerging  
issues and trends

Special Inquiry into the 
January 2016 Waroona 
fire
The Report of the Special 
Inquiry into the January 
2016 Waroona Fire prepared 
by Euan Ferguson AFSM 
was commissioned under 
provisions of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. The 
report was released on 29 April 
2016. The government has 
expressed in-principle support 
for the recommendations and 
opportunities for improvement 
in the report.

From July 2017 the OEM 
will chair a working group 
tracking the progress on 
the recommendations and 
opportunities for improvement.

National Partnership 
Agreement on Natural 
Disaster Resilience
The National Partnership 
Agreement on Natural Disaster 
Resilience (NPA) between the 
Attorney-General’s Department 
and the State Government 
delivers the Natural Disaster 
Resilience Program.

The OEM oversees the 
program in Western Australia, 
which focuses on reducing the 
vulnerability of communities 
to natural disasters, and 
addresses priorities outlined 
in the National Strategy for 
Disaster Resilience.

The most recent two-year 
NPA was due to expire on 
30 June 2017. As part of 
the Commonwealth budget 
announcements in May 2017, 
a 12-month extension was 
announced. This agreement will 
now expire on 30 June 2018.

The addition of another 
year’s extension to the NPA 
will enable SEMC to deliver 
important disaster resilience 
work for Western Australia. 

Economic and social 
trends
The current trajectory for 
climatic conditions indicates 
that major natural disasters will 
become more frequent and 
severe. Extreme events are 
inevitable. This is increasing  
the cost of natural disasters.  
The focus on mitigation 
is therefore increasing in 
importance.

Changes at the  
national level
The Commonwealth 
Government believes that 
disaster management, 
including risk management 
and planning, recovery and 
mitigation, is primarily a 
responsibility of the states.

The large and increasing 
recovery expenditure following 
natural disasters has prompted 
the Commonwealth to 
review the effectiveness and 
sustainability of current funding 
arrangements.  

The Commonwealth 
Government is looking to 
encourage expenditure on 
mitigation actions focused on 
reducing or eliminating long-
term risk to natural hazards. 
In light of the above, national 
recovery funding arrangements 
are being renegotiated and 
redrafted and are due to come 
into effect in 2018.

Changes in written law
There were no changes in 
written law that affected the 
OEM during the financial year.

Likely developments 
and forecast results  
of operations
Risk and Resilience 
directorate
The OEM’s Risk and Capability 
section continues to work to 
gain a comprehensive risk 
profile for Western Australia 
across all hazards at state, 
district and local level. This 
profile will help inform decision 
making in the EM sector with 
an emphasis on prevention 
and preparedness activities. 
Substantial work has already 
been undertaken at the state 
and district level. 
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Current and emerging issues and trends

In June 2017, eight District Risk 
Assessment Reports, which 
highlight potential impacts 
from priority hazards across 
the state, were published. In 
addition, the risks from seven 
sudden-onset natural hazards 
were re-assessed at state level, 
fulfilling a requirement of the 
NPA.

The OEM continues to survey 
agencies involved in EM to 
gain a profile of the state’s 
capabilities to prepare for, 
respond to, and recover from 
emergencies. This information 
is assimilated and reported 
against in the yearly Emergency 
Preparedness Report.

In 2017 the OEM’s capability 
survey was significantly 
upgraded as a step towards 
establishing a more quantitative 
understanding of capability 
across the sector and against 
multiple hazards. 

This is to endeavour to fulfil the 
OEM’s longer term strategy 
of having a comprehensive 
capability profile and 
appropriate capability that 
matches the state’s risks.

The OEM’s Regional Services 
section continues to engage 
across EM districts through its 
network of District Advisors. 
The section plays a key role as 
the delivery and engagement 
arm for the policies, 
procedures, guidelines, and 
risk and capability content 
derived from the SEMC and 
other EM agencies. Regional 
Services will continue to 
focus on how to get the best 
engagement coverage across 
the state so that resilience 
is enhanced, particularly at 
district and local scale. The 
work will include a balanced 
emphasis across the spectrum 
of prevention, preparedness, 
response and recovery.

Assurance directorate 
(including Policy, Legislation 
and Assurance sections)
In 2017–18 it is anticipated 
that the Assurance directorate 
will finalise the Policy and 
Governance Review Project. 
This work will mark the 
culmination of a substantial 
review of EM policy and 
processes. Additionally, 
the directorate will develop 
EM assurance, lessons 
management and exercise 
frameworks for Western 
Australia, as well as submit 
an EM amendment bill to the 
Minister.
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3.  Agency 
Performance
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Report on operations – OEM
Actual results versus budget targets

Resource Agreement
The following performance information (financial and non-financial) is the subject of a Resource 
Agreement signed by the Minister for Emergency Services, the OEM and the Treasurer under Part 
3, Division 5 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Resources are provided for the purpose of 
achieving one agency-level outcome, to ensure the effective strategic coordination of EM through the 
delivery of EM advice and consultation.

Financial targets

Table 8. Financial targets

2016–17 
Target (1) 

($000s)

2016–17 
Actual 
($000s)

Variation 
($000s)

Reason for significant variation 
between target and actual (2)

Total cost of services 
(expense limit) (details 
from Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Income)

8,961 8,006 –955 Lower than target mainly due to 
natural disaster resilience and bushfire 
mitigation projects still underway.

Net cost of services

(details from 
Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Income)

5,288 5,661 374 Higher than target mainly due to 
inclusion of the Recovery function 
from the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet and increase in the Risk 
and Resilience program activities.

Total equity (details 
from Statement of 
Financial Position)

5,304 5,417 113

Agreed salary 
expense level

4,052 4,172 120

Agreed borrowing limit 0 0 0

(1)  As specified in the budget statements.

(2)  Further explanations are contained in note 34 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.
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Report on operations – OEM

Table 9. Working cash targets

2016–17 
Agreed 

limit

2016–17 
Target (1) 

Actual (2)
Variation 
($000s)

Reason for significant variation 
between target and agreed (3)

Agreed working cash 
limit (at Budget)

431 376 –55

Agreed working cash 
limit (at Actuals)

431 64 –367 Lower than agreed mainly due to 
Commonwealth-funded projects 
being withheld as “Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents” category in 
2016-17 due to program delays.

(1)  Reflects anticipated working cash.

(2)  Reflects actual working cash at the end of the financial year.

(3)  Further explanations are contained in note 34 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.

Table 10. Key performance indicators

2016-17 
Target (1)

2016-17 
Actual Variation (2)

Outcome: Stakeholder assessment of strategic coordination 
and quality management

60% 71% 11%

Service: Average hourly cost of providing EM advice and 
consultation

$56 $51 –$5

(1) As specified in the budget statements.

(2) Further explanations are contained in note 34 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.
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Financial statements

Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

The accompanying financial statements of the Office of 
Emergency Management have been prepared in compliance with 
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions 
for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 
30 June 2017.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that 
would render any particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Mal Cronstedt AFSM, MBA, BA
Accountable Authority

10 August 2017

Joe Murgia
A/Chief Finance Officer

10 August 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note
2017

 $000
2016

 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6  4,622  3,833

Supplies and services 8  1,291  1,525

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9  62  86

Accommodation expenses 10  667  626

Grants and subsidies 11  1,315  2,285

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 12  15  –

Other expenses 13  34  12

Total cost of services 8,006  8,367

Income

Revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 15  1,926  2,522

Other revenue 16  419  113

Total revenue  2,345  2,635

Total income other than income from  
State Government  2,345  2,635

NET COST OF SERVICES  5,661  5,732

Income from State Government 17 

Service appropriation  5,450  5,044

Services received free of charge  623  389

Total income from State Government  6,073  5,433

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  412  (299)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD  412  (299)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
 $000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18, 30  64  501

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 30  6,106  5,141

Receivables 20  82  57

Other current assets 21  101  85

Total current assets  6,353  5,784

Non-current assets

Amounts receivable for services 23  221  148

Plant and equipment 24  15  84

Intangible assets 25  –  9

Total non-current assets  236  241

TOTAL ASSETS  6,589  6,025

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 27  167  287

Provisions 28  770  505

Total current liabilities  937  792

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 28  234  228

Total non-current liabilities  234  228

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,171  1,020

NET ASSETS  5,417  5,005

EQUITY 29 

Contributed equity  3,754  3,754

Accumulated surplus  1,663  1,251

TOTAL EQUITY  5,417  5,005

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note

Contributed 
equity

$000

Accumulated 
surplus 

$000
Total equity

$000

Balance at 1 July 2015 29  3,754  1,550  5,304 

Surplus/(deficit)  –  (299)  (299)

Other comprehensive income  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for  
the period  –  (299)  (299)

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  –  –  – 

Other contributions by owners  –  –  – 

Distributions to owners  –  –  – 

Total  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2016  3,754  1,251  5,005 

Balance at 1 July 2016  3,754  1,251  5,005 

Surplus/(deficit)  –  412  412 

Other comprehensive income  –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period  –  412  412 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  –  –  – 

Other contributions by owners  –  –  – 

Distributions to owners  –  –  – 

Total  –  –  – 

Balance at 30 June 2017  3,754  1,663  5,417 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  5,377  4,896

Net cash provided by State Government  5,377  4,896

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (4,375)  (3,566)

Supplies and services  (589)  (1,181)

Accommodation  (979)  (628)

Grants and subsidies  (1,235)  (2,041)

GST payments on purchases  (206)  (268)

Other payments  (34)  (12)

Receipts

Commonwealth grants and contributions  1,926  2,522

GST receipts on sales  35  16

GST receipts from taxation authority  184  282

Other receipts  424  125

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 30  (4,849)  (4,751)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets  –  –

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  –  –

Other proceeds  –  –

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  –  –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  528  145

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period  5,642  5,497

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE  
END OF THE PERIOD 30  6,170  5,642

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations  
and Income Estimates for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
Estimate

$000

2017
 Actual

$000
Variance

$000

2017
 Actual

$000

2016
 Actual

$000
Variance

$000

Delivery of services

Item 102 Net amount 
appropriated to deliver 
services  5,015  5,450  435  5,450  5,044  (406)

Total appropriations 
provided to deliver services  5,015  5,450  435  5,450  5,044  (406)

 

GRAND TOTAL  5,015  5,450  435  5,450  5,044  (406)

Details of expenses

Total cost of services 8,961  8,006 (955)  8,006  8,367  361 

Less Total income 3,673  2,345 (1,328)  2,345  2,635  290 

Net cost of services 5,288  5,661 373  5,661  5,732  71 

Adjustments  –  –  –  –  – 

Total appropriations 
provided to deliver 
services 5,288  5,661 373  5,661  5,732  71 

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.  

Note 34 ‘Explanatory Statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the actual results 
for 2017 and 2016.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

1  Australian Accounting Standards
General
The sub-department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ 
includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
The sub-department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The sub-department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by Treasurer’s Instructions (TI) 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that 
have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the sub-department for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2017.

2  Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)  General statement
The sub-department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by 
the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions 
that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention, except for land and buildings, which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying the sub-department’s accounting policies resulting in 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
(c)  Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Office of Emergency Management and State Emergency 
Management Committee.

Vision
A better prepared, safer and more resilient Western Australia.

Mission
To harness and optimise the knowledge, expertise and resources of the state to reduce the impact of 
emergencies on our people, economy and environment management.

The OEM is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations.

(d)  Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, 
or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly 
Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are  
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e)  Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations
In accordance with the most recent agreement, as qualified in the 2016–17 budget statements, the 
sub-department received $1.566 million in 2017 from Commonwealth specific purpose grants for 
Natural Disaster Resilience Program projects.

Net appropriation determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services 
under the control of the sub-department.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the sub-department obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the services would have been purchased if not donated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the sub-
department obtains control over the funds. The sub-department obtains control of the funds at the 
time the funds are deposited into the sub-department’s bank account.

(f)  Plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment costing 
less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other 
than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at 
the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, historical cost is used for all other plant and equipment. 
All items of plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

See note 24 ‘Plant and equipment’ for further information.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Plant and equipment 3–10 years.

Leasehold improvements of a capital nature are classified as plant and equipment. The leasehold 
improvement is depreciated over the lease term.

(g)  Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets 
costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over 
their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, 
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets 
controlled by the sub-department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software 3–5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible 
asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition 
or development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation 
to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during 
the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be 
reliably measured are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits.

(h)  Impairment of assets
Plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
to be impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised. 
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. As the sub-department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling, or where there is significant change in useful 
life. Each relevant class of asset is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and 
to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to 
market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at 
cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

See note 22 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
(i)  Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease 
term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets 
are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period 
during which the sub-department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according 
to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties and services.

See note 8 ‘Supplies and services’ and note 32 ‘Commitments’.

(j)  Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the sub-department has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables.

Financial liabilities
• Payables.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.

(k)  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l)  Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 27) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a week of the end of the reporting period. The 
sub-department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists 
of amounts paid annually, from departmental appropriations for salaries expense, into a suspense 
account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 
53 pay days instead of the normal 52. No interest is received on this account.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
(m)  Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The sub-department receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an 
asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the emergence 
of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

See also note 17 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 23 ’Amounts receivable for services (holding 
account)’.

(n)  Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any allowance for 
uncollectable amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectable are written-off against the allowance account. 
The allowance for uncollectable amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the sub-department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

(o)  Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the sub-department becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 27 ‘Payables’.

(p)  Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

See note 28 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end 
of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability 
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the sub-department does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the sub-department 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as non-current liabilities because the sub-department has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to public service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is 
measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as 
employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB), and other fund providers, administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary 
according to commencement and implementation dates.

The Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF) is a superannuation fund available 
to employees of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services. Membership is also available to 
employees of the United Firefighters Union of Western Australia, the Western Australian Volunteer Fire 
Brigades Association (Inc.), and the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Board (FESSB). 
The FESSB is a trustee of the Fund and is responsible for managing the fund in the best interest 
of members and for ensuring the fund is managed in accordance with its governing legislation; 
the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985 and the Fire and Emergency Services 
(Superannuation Fund) Regulations 1986. The liability for superannuation charges is extinguished by 
payments of employer contributions to the FESSF.

Members can make additional voluntary contributions to an accumulation account and are payable 
in addition to any defined benefit entitlement. Contributing members who have reached the age of 55 
or completed 30 years of contributing membership can elect to transfer their defined benefit into their 
accumulation account.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
The sub-department also makes employer contributions to the FESSF during the year. The FESSF is 
a defined benefit scheme for the purpose of employees and is a defined contribution plan for the sub-
department. The concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the sub-department to the 
FESSF extinguishes the sub-department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to 
new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS 
and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. The sub-department 
makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the sub-department’s liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the sub-department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The sub-department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the sub-department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See note 2(r) ‘Superannuation expense’.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and 
are recognised as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
sub-department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-
costs provision’.

See note 13 ‘Other expenses’ and note 28 ‘Provisions’.

(q)  Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the sub-department would 
otherwise purchase if not donated are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services 
where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under 
‘Income from State Government’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

See note 17 ‘Income from State Government’.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)
(r)  Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF), the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS) (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation (WSS), and 
the Government Employees Superannuation Board Scheme (GESBS), or other superannuation fund. 
The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated 
Account by the GESB.

(s)  Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented 
in the current reporting period.

3  Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The sub-department evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The sub-department has entered into a lease for buildings for branch office accommodation. The 
lease relates to a building that is temporarily occupied and it has been determined that the lessor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have 
been classified as operating leases.

4  Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

Long service leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the sub-department’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected 
future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying 
amounts of the long service leave provision.
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5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The sub-department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the sub-department.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and 
Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]
The sub-department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and 
does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial 
impact on application of the Standard.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the sub-department as 
depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, 
but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 
128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.  
The sub-department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting 
Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and 
editorial corrections. The sub-department has determined that the application of the 
Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation 
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when 
applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit (NFP) Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by NFP 
public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the 
Standard by NFP public sector entities. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of NFP 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]
This Standard relieves NFP public sector entities from the reporting burden associated 
with various disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 
that are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate future 
net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to 
AASB 10 & 128
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments 
to AASB 10 & AASB 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the 
amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The sub-department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted 
by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an 
exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the sub-department has early adopted AASB 
2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities. Where applicable, the sub-department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting 
Standards from their application date.

Title

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 
1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 
2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards. The sub-department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2019
This Standard establishes the principles that the sub-department 
shall apply to report useful information to users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.

5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (cont.)
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (cont.)

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

70



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Title

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

The sub-department’s income is principally derived from 
appropriations which will be measured under AASB 1058 Income of 
Not-for-Profit Entities and will be unaffected by this change. However, 
the sub-department has not yet determined the potential impact of the 
Standard on ‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. In broad 
terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions attached to these 
revenues will defer revenue recognition until the sub-department has 
discharged its performance obligations.

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with 
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of 
low value.
While the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity 
currently has operating lease commitments for $581,776. The sub-
department anticipates most of this amount will be brought onto 
the statement of financial position, excepting amounts pertinent to 
short-term or low-value leases. Interest and amortisation expense 
will increase and rental expense will decrease.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 1 Jan 2019
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition 
requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely 
reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that are 
not contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is 
dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability, a 
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or, 
an obligation to acquire an asset. The sub-department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of 
issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been 
amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. 
The sub-department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (cont.)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (cont.)
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Title

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2018
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and 
consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been 
assessed by the sub-department to determine the application or 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of 
this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 
2018. The sub-department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2014)

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The sub-
department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an 
inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in 
AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The mandatory effective date (application date) for the Standard 
has been deferred to 1 Jan 2018 by AASB 2015-10. The sub-
department has determined that the Standard has no financial 
impact.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
AASB 15

1 Jan 2019

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) 
of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 
15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. For NFP entities, 
the mandatory effective date has subsequently been amended to 
1 January 2019 by AASB 2016-7. The sub-department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (cont.)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (cont.)
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Title

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows 
(August 2015) to require disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to 
AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal 
versus agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from 
granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions 
to AASB 15. The sub-department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact.

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable 
Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-
Profit Entities

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily 
non-cash-generating assets of NFP entities, which are typically 
specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service 
capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value 
determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The sub-
department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact.

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of 
AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application 
date) of AASB 15 and defers the consequential amendments that 
were originally set out in AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for NFP entities to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, 
instead of 1 January 2018. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for NFP entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 
This guidance assists NFP entities in applying those Standards to 
particular transactions and other events. There is no financial impact.

5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (cont.)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (cont.)
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Title

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual 
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the 
disclosure requirements apply to an entity’s interests in other entities 
that are classified as held for sale, held for distribution to owners in 
their capacity as owners or discontinued operations in accordance 
with AASB 5. There is no financial impact.

Changes in accounting estimates
There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect on the current reporting 
period.

2017
$000

2016
 $000

6  Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)  4,172  3,445

Superannuation – defined contribution plans: (b)

Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Board (FESSB)  249  233

Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  130  97

Other superannuation funds  13  6

Other related expenses  58  52

 4,622  3,833

(a)   Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution 
component. Also includes payments to SEMC members.

(b)   Defined contribution plans include GESB Super Scheme (contribution paid) and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 13 ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 28 ‘Provisions’.

5  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (cont.)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (cont.)
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7  Compensation of key management personnel
The sub-department has determined that key management personnel include Chairperson of the 
State Emergency Management Committee and Executive Director of the sub-department.

Total compensation for senior officers of the sub-department for the reporting period are presented 
within the following bands:

2017 2016

Compensation band ($) 

70,001 – 80,000 1  –

80,001 – 90,000  –  1

240,001 – 250,000  –  1

280,001 – 290,000  1  –

$000  $000

Short-term employee benefits 328 326

Other long-term benefits 40 – 

Total compensation of senior officers 368 326

There are no senior officers who are members of the Pension Scheme.
2017
$000

2016
 $000

8 Supplies and services
Communications  66  44

Consultants and contractors  776  1,029

Leases  88  87

Travel  104  94

Other  257  271

 1,291  1,525

9  Depreciation and amortisation expense
Plant and equipment  –  2

Computer hardware  9  13

Leasehold improvements  45  63

Total depreciation  54  78

Amortisation

Intangible assets  8  8

Total amortisation  8  8

Total depreciation and amortisation  62  86
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2017
$000

2016
 $000

10 Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals  654  620

Repairs and maintenance  13  6

 667  626

11 Grants and subsidies
Recurrent

National Partnership Agreement on Natural Disaster Resilience 
Program (NPA–NDRP)  275  2,011

National Partnership Agreement on National Bushfire Mitigation 
Program (NPA–NBMP)  361  153

All West Australians Reducing Emergencies (AWARE) Program  238  121

State Crisis Information Management System  352  –

Policy and Legislation  14  –

Refunded

National Emergency Management Projects  75  –

 1,315  2,285

12 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Plant and equipment  15  –

Net gain/(loss)  15  –

13 Other expenses
Audit fees  8  8

Employment on-costs  26  4

 34  12
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14 Related party transactions
The sub-department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia.  
In conducting its activities, the sub-department is required to pay various taxes and levies based on 
the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers to the State and entities related 
to State.

Related parties of the sub-department include:
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities
• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of 

government consolidated financial statements
•  associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole-of-government consolidated financial 

statements
•  the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with government related entities
Significant transactions include:
•  service appropriations (note 17)
• services received free of charge (note 17)
•  superannuation payments to GESB (note 6).

Material transactions with related parties
The sub-department had no material related party transaction with Ministers/Senior Officers or their 
close family members or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure.

2017
$000

2016
 $000

15 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Recurrent  1,566  –

Other  360  2,522

 1,926  2,522

The sub-department administers the Commonwealth Government’s Natural Disaster Resilience 
Program (NDRP) and the National Bushfire Mitigation Program (NBMP), both funded as special 
purpose payments by the Commonwealth Attorney-General’s Department. The objectives of these 
programs is to reduce the Western Australian communities vulnerability to natural hazards by 
supporting local governments and other stakeholders to build community resilience.

In 2016–17 the competitive grants round for the NDRP was called; 12 applicants were successful. 
Together with the NDRP general programs and existing projects, a total of 26 individual projects were 
in progress at the conclusion of 2016–17.  The total value of the projects currently being delivered is in 
excess of $20 million.  It is anticipated that 9 of these will be completed in 2017–18.

The NBMP Partnership Agreement with the Commonwealth government concluded on 30 June 2017. 
At the end of 2016–17, 25 projects valued at more than $2.2 million are in progress, of these 23 
projects should be concluded by the end of 2017–18.
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15 Commonwealth grants and contributions (cont.)
The sub-department received funding from the National Emergency Management Program (NEMP) to 
transition from the national Risk Assessment, Measurement and Mitigation Subcommittee (RAMMS) 
to the recently established Mitigation and Risk Subcommittee. It is expected these funds will be fully 
expended in the 2017–18 period.

2017
$000

2016
 $000

16 Other revenue
Employee and volunteer cost recovery  54  41

Vendor payment recovery  –  2

General revenue  365  70

 419  113

17 Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation(a)  5,450  5,044

Services received free of charge from other State Government 
agencies during period:

Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES)(b)  417  385

State Solicitor’s Office (SSO)(c)  9  4

Department of Finance (DoF)(d)  50  –

Public Sector Commission (PSC)(e)  147  –

 6,073  5,433

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The 
receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the period and any agreed increase in leave liability during the period.

(b) DFES provide: information technology, financial, human resource and other support services.

(c) SSO provide: legal services.

(d) DoF provide: accommodation – leasing and fitout – depreciation costs.

(e) PSC provide: rental, parking bays, electricity and GBCN ICT charges.

2017
$000

2016
 $000

18 Cash and cash equivalents
Current

Cash at bank  64  501

 64  501

See note 2(k) ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

78



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
$000

2016
 $000

19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current (Commonwealth funding)

NDRP(a)  5,475  4,486

NBMP(a)  482  452

NEMP(a)  –  201

RAMMS(a)  47  –

Keep Our Mob Safe(a)  100  –

 6,104  5,139

Current (State funding – Western Australian)

Rental deposit(b)  2  2

 2  2

Total  6,106  5,141

(a) Refer to note 15 ‘Commonwealth Grants’.

(b)  Deposit for rental property in Broome.

2017
$000

2016
 $000

20 Receivables
Current

Receivables  46  2

Paid parental leave receivable  (6)  –

GST receivable  42  55

Total current  82  57

The sub-department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for 
receivables.

See note 2(n) ‘Receivables’ and note 35 ‘Financial instruments’.

21 Other current assets

Prepayments(a)  101  85

Total  101  85

(a) Prepayments include third party licence fees for sub-department accommodation charges and other payments to third parties for operating expenses.

22 Impairment of assets
The sub-department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available 
for use.

See note 2(h) ‘Impairment of assets’.
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2017
$000

2016
 $000

23 Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

Non-current  221  148

Total  221  148

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

See also note 2(m) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.

2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

24 Plant and equipment 
Computer hardware

At cost  37  37 

Accumulated depreciation  (36)  (27)

1 10 

Leasehold improvements

At cost  0  250 

Accumulated depreciation  0  (191)

 0  59 

Plant and equipment

At cost  19  19 

Accumulated depreciation  (6)  (4)

 13  15 

 

Total 15 84 

See note 2(f) ‘Plant and equipment’.
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24 Plant and equipment (cont.)
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Leasehold 
improve-

ments
$000

Computer 
hardware

$000

Computer 
software

$000
Total
$000

June 2016

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2015  17  123  22  17  179 

Additions  –  –  –  –  – 

Transfers  –  –  –  –  – 

Other disposals  –  –  –  –  – 

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)  –  –  –  –  – 

Depreciation  (2)  (63)  (13)  –  (78)

Reclassification  –  –  –  (17)  (17)

Carrying amount at end  
of period  15  60  9 –  84 

 

June 2017

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2016  15  60  9  –  84 

Additions  –  –  –  –  – 

Transfers  –  –  –  –  – 

Other disposals  –  (15)  –  –  (15)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)  –  –  –  –  – 

Depreciation –  (45)  (9)  –  (54)

Reclassification –  –  –  – –

Carrying amount at end  
of period  15  –  –  –  15 
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2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

25 Intangible assets
Computer software

At cost 26  26 

Accumulated amortisation (26)  (17)

0 9 

Total 0 9 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the reporting 
period are set out in the table below.

$000

Computer software

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2016  –  9 

Additions(deductions)  –  – 

Transfers  –  – 

Other disposals  – –

Revaluation increments/(decrements)  –  – 

Amortisation  –  (9)

Reclassification  –  – 

Carrying amount at end of period  – 

26  Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment at 30 June 2017.

The sub-department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period.

2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

27 Payables
Current

Trade payables  21  274

Accrued expenditure  124  13

Accrued salaries  17  –

Income received in advance  5  –

GST payable  –  –

Total current  167  287

See note 2(o) ‘Payables’, note 2(l) ‘Accrued salaries’ and note 35 ‘Financial instruments’.
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2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

28 Provisions
Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave(a)  310  235

Long service leave(b)  378  215

688  450

Other provisions

Employment on-costs(d)  82  55

770  505

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave(b)  180  194

Deferred salary scheme(c) 31 10

211 204

Other provisions

Employment on-costs(d)  23  24

 234  228

Note: The deferred salary scheme provision has been moved from current provision to non-current provision as payment is not expected to occur within 
the next 12 months.

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  310  216

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period –  18

 310  234

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 378  52

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 180  357

558  409

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  –  –

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  31  10

 31  10

(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 
The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 13 ‘Other expenses’.
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2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

28 Provisions (continued)
Movements in other provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial 
period, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period  79  75

Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  26  4

Carrying amount at end of period  105  79

See note 2 (p) ‘Provisions’.

29 Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the sub-department on behalf of the 
community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the agency.

2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period  3,754  3,754

Total contributions by owners  3,754  3,754

 

Balance at end of period  3,754  3,754

Accumulated surplus

Balance at start of period  1,251  1,550

Result for period  412  (299)

Balance at end of period  1,663  1,251

Reserves

Balance at start of period  –  –

Result for period  –  –

Balance at end of period  –  –

 

Total equity at end of period  5,417  5,005
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2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

30 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the 
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (note 18 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’)  64  501

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents’)  6,106  5,141

 6,170  5,642

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services  (5,661)  (5,732)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense  
(note 9 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)  62  86

Services received free of charge (note 17 ‘Income from State Government’)  624  389

Increase/(decrease) in assets:

Current receivables(a)  (25)  241

Other current assets  (16)  30

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables(a)  (120)  212

Current provisions  265  11

Non-current provisions 6  42

Net GST receipts/(payments)(b)  –  –

Change in GST in receivables/payables(c)  16  (30)

Net cash used in operating activities  (4,849)  (4,751)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of  
non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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2017
 $000 

2016
 $000 

31 Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other 
agencies free of charge:

DFES(a) 15 7

Department of the Premier and Cabinet (DPC)(b) 253 115

Total current 268 122

(a) DFES were provided: accommodation, parking and phones

(b) DPC were provided: accommodation, outgoings and parking 

See note 2(o) ‘Payables’, note 2(l) ‘Accrued salaries’ and note 35 ‘Financial instruments’.

32 Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as 
follows:

Within 1 year 1,070  870

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,807  411

Later than 5 years  –  –

 2,877  1,281

The sub-department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a five 
year term, with rent payable monthly in advance.

33 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected,  
or may significantly affect the sub-department’s operations, the results of those operations, or the 
sub-department’s state of affairs in future financial years.

34 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the actual 
results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for selected major variances 
which are greater than:
– 5% and $0.167 million for Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cashflows
– 5% and $0.120 million for Statement of Financial Position
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.)

Variance 
note Estimate Actual Actual

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016

Cost of services
2017

 $000 
2017

 $000 
2016

 $000  $000  $000 

Expenses

Employee benefits expense  1  4,688  4,622  3,833  (66)  789 

Supplies and services  2  712  1,291  1,525  579  (234)

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense  73  62  86  (11)  (24)

Accommodation expenses  720  667  626  (53)  41 

Grants and subsidies  3  2,506  1,315  2,285  (1,191)  (970)

Loss on disposal of non-current 
assets  –  15  –  15  15 

Other expenses  4  262  34  12  (228)  22 

Total cost of services  8,961  8,006  8,367  (955)  (361)

Income

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions  5  3,673  1,926  2,522  (1,747)  (596)

Other revenue  6  –  419  113  419  306 

Total revenue  3,673  2,345  2,635  (1,328)  (290)

Total income other than income  
from State Government  3,673  2,345  2,635  (1,328)  (290)

NET COST OF SERVICES  5,288  5,661  5,732  373  (71)

Income from State Government

Service appropriation  7  5,015  5,450  5,044  435  406 

Services received free of charge  8  273  623  389  350  234 

Total income from  
State Government  5,288  6,073  5,433  785  640 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)  
FOR THE PERIOD  –  412  (299)  412  711 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE YEAR  –  412  (299)  412  711 
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.) 

Variance 
note Estimate Actual    Actual

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016

Statement of financial position
2017

 $000 
2017

 $000 
2016

 $000  $000  $000 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  A  352  64  501  (288)  (437)

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  B  5,145  6,106  5,141  961  965 

Receivables  C  298  82  57  (216)  25 

Other assets  115  101  85  (14)  16 

Total current assets  5,910  6,353  5,784  443  569 

Non-current assets
Amounts receivable for services  147  221  148  74  73 

Plant and equipment  15  15  84  (0)  (70)

Intangible assets  –  –  9  –  (9)

Other  17  –  –  –  – 

Total non-current assets  179  236  241  74  (6)

TOTAL ASSETS  6,089  6,589  6,025  517  563 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables  D  73  167  287  94  (120)

Provisions  E  504 770 505 266 265

Other  32  –  –  –  – 

Total current liabilities  609 937 792 360 145

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 176 234 228 58 6

Total non-current liabilities  176 234 228 58 6

TOTAL LIABILITIES  785  1,171  1,020  418  151 

NET ASSETS  5,304  5,417  5,005  99  413 
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.) 

Variance 
note Estimate Actual    Actual

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016

Statement of financial position
2017

 $000 
2017

 $000 
2016

 $000  $000  $000 

EQUITY
Contributed equity  3,754  3,754  3,754  –  0 

Accumulated surplus  1,550  1,663  1,251  113  412 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,304  5,417  5,005  113  412 

CASH FLOWS FROM  
STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  1  4,942  5,377  4,896  435  481 

Capital appropriations  –  –  –  –  – 

Capital contributions  –  –  –  –  – 

Holding account drawdowns  –  –  –  –  – 

Royalties for Regions Fund  –  –  –  –  – 

Transfer of net assets from other 
agencies  –  –  –  –  – 

Net cash provided by State 
Government  4,942  5,377  4,896  435  481 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  2  (4,688)  (4,375)  (3,566)  313  (809)

Supplies and services  3  (439)  (589)  (1,181)  (150)  592 

Finance costs  –  –  –  –  – 

Accommodation  4  (720)  (979)  (628)  (259)  (351)

Grants and subsidies  5  (2,506)  (1,235)  (2,041)  1,271  806 

GST payments on purchases  –  (206)  (268)  (206)  62 

Other payments  6  (262)  (34)  (12)  228  (22)
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Receipts

User charges and fees  –  –  –  –  – 

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions  7  3,673  1,926  2,522  (1,747)  (596)

Interest received  –  –  –  –  – 

GST receipts on sales  –  35  16  35  19 

GST receipts from taxation authority  –  184  282  184  (98)

Other receipts  8  –  424  125  424  299 

Net cash used in operating 
activities  (4,942)  (4,849)  (4,751)  93  (98)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  –  –  –  –  – 

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current 
physical assets  –  –  –  –  – 

Other proceeds  –  –  –  –  – 

Net cash used in investing 
activities  –  –  –  –  – 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Payments

Repayment of borrowings  –  –  –  –  – 

Receipts

Proceeds from borrowings  –  –  –  –  – 

Net cash provided by financing 
activities  –  –  –  –  – 

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents  –  528  145  528  383 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period  5,497  5,497  5,682  –  (185)

CASH ASSETS AT END OF 
REPORTING PERIOD  5,497  6,025  5,827  528  198 

34 Explanatory statement (cont.) 

Variance 
note Estimate Actual    Actual

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016

Cash flows from  
State Government

2017
 $000 

2017
 $000 

2016
 $000  $000  $000 
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.)
Commentary

Note 
State-
ment of 
Compre-
hensive 
Income

Note 
State-
ment of 
Financial 
Position

Note 
State-
ment of 
Cash 
Flows Allo cation Line item

Variance estimate vs 
actuals

Variance actuals vs 
actuals

1 Expenses Employee 
benefits 
expenses

N/A Higher than prior 
year by $763k due 
to an increase in 
full-time equivalents 
(FTEs), mainly as a 
consequence of the 
transfer of the Recovery 
function from the 
Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet 
and increase in the Risk 
and Resilience program 
activities.

2 Expenses Supplies 
& 
Services

Higher than estimate by 
$579k due to increased 
resources received free 
of charge for: 
 – DFES human 
resources and 
information 
communication and 
technology costs 
 – Public Sector 
Commission paid rental, 
parking bays, electricity 
and GBCN ICT charges.

Lower than prior year 
by $234k mainly due 
to lower resources 
received free of charge 
being required in relation 
to: 
 – DFES human 
resources and 
information 
communication and 
technology costs 
 – Public Sector 
Commission paid rental, 
parking bays, electricity 
and GBCN ICT charges.

3 Expenses Grants 
and 
subsidies

Lower than estimate by 
$1.191m due to delays 
in the completion of 
the Natural Disaster 
Resilience Program 
(NDRP) and National 
Bushfire Mitigation 
Program (NBMP) 
projects.

Lower than prior year 
by $970k due to delays 
in completion of NDRP 
projects.

4 Expenses Other 
expenses

Lower than estimate by 
$202k due to budget 
items being misaligned 
as ‘Other expenses’ 
instead of ‘Supplies and 
Services’ and will be 
corrected in 2017–18.

N/A

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

91



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

34 Explanatory statement (cont.)
Commentary

Note 
State-
ment of 
Compre-
hensive 
Income

Note 
State-
ment of 
Financial 
Position

Note 
State-
ment of 
Cash 
Flows Allo cation Line item

Variance estimate vs 
actuals

Variance actuals vs 
actuals

5 Income Common-
wealth 
grants 
and con-
tributions

Lower than estimate 
due to delay in 
Commonwealth signing 
project implementation 
plan and it is expected 
the balance of funds 
will be received in the 
2017–18 year.

Lower than prior year by 
$596k due to funding 
for the NBMP ceasing in 
June 2016.

6 Income Other 
revenue

Higher than estimate 
due to one-off 
funding for the State 
Crisis Information 
Management System 
received in 2016–17.

Higher than prior 
year by $306k due to 
one-off funding for the 
State Crisis Information 
Management System 
received in 2016–17.

7 Income 
from State 
Govern-
ment

Service 
appropri-
ation

Higher than estimate 
by $435k mainly due 
to the transfer of the 
Recovery function 
from the Department 
of the Premier and 
Cabinet and additional 
Assurance, Risk and 
Resilience functions 
being undertaken by 
OEM.

Higher than prior year 
by $406k, mainly due 
to the transfer of the 
Recovery function 
from the Department 
of the Premier and 
Cabinet and additional 
Assurance, Risk and 
Resilience functions 
being undertaken by 
OEM.

8 Income 
from State 
Govern-
ment

Services 
received 
free of 
charge

Higher than estimate 
by $350k due to 
Department of Finance 
and Public Sector 
Commission providing 
services relating to 
the transition from 
accommodation at 
Leederville to West 
Perth.

Higher than prior 
year mainly due to 
Department of Finance 
and Public Sector 
Commission providing 
services relating to 
the transition from 
accommodation at 
Leederville to West 
Perth.

A Current 
assets

Cash 
and cash 
equiva-
lents

Lower than estimate 
mainly due to 
Commonwealth funded 
projects being withheld 
as ‘Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents’ 
category in 2016–17 due 
to program delays.

Lower than prior 
year mainly due to 
Commonwealth funded 
projects being withheld 
as ‘Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents’ 
category in 2016–17 due 
to program delays.
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.)
Commentary

Note 
State-
ment of 
Compre-
hensive 
Income

Note 
State-
ment of 
Financial 
Position

Note 
State-
ment of 
Cash 
Flows Allo cation Line item

Variance estimate vs 
actuals

Variance actuals vs 
actuals

B Current 
assets

Cash 
and cash 
equiva-
lents

Higher than estimate by 
$961k due to ongoing 
delays in NDRP and 
NBMP programs.

High than prior year by 
$965k due to ongoing 
delays in NDRP and 
NBMP programs.

C Current 
assets

Receiva-
bles

Lower than estimates 
by $216k due to 
improvements in debtor 
controls and cash 
management.

N/A

D Current 
liabilities

Payables N/A Lower than prior year 
by $120k due to a lower 
number project Grants 
and Subsidies invoices 
being received at year 
end.

E Current 
assets

Provisions Higher than estimate by 
$266k due to transfer of 
annual and long service 
leave liability from other 
State department.

Higher than prior year by 
$265k due to transfer of 
annual and long service 
leave liability from other 
State department.

1 Cash 
flows from 
State 
Govern-
ment

Service 
appropri-
ation

Higher than estimate 
by $435k mainly due 
to the transfer of the 
Recovery function 
from the Department 
of the Premier and 
Cabinet and additional 
Assurance, Risk and 
Resilience functions 
being undertaken by 
OEM.

Higher than prior year 
by $481k, mainly due 
to the transfer of the 
Recovery function 
from the Department 
of the Premier and 
Cabinet and additional 
Assurance, Risk and 
Resilience functions 
being undertaken by 
OEM.

2 Payments Employee 
benefits

Lower than estimate by 
$339k due to Recovery 
and Assurance, Risk 
and Resilience functions 
commencing part way 
through 2016–17.

Higher than prior year 
by $783k due to an 
increase in full time 
equivalents, mainly 
as a consequence 
of the transfer of the 
Recovery function from 
the Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet 
and increase in the Risk 
and Resilience program 
activities.
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34 Explanatory statement (cont.)
Commentary

Note 
State-
ment of 
Compre-
hensive 
Income

Note 
State-
ment of 
Financial 
Position

Note 
State-
ment of 
Cash 
Flows Allo cation Line item

Variance estimate vs 
actuals

Variance actuals vs 
actuals

3 Payments Supplies 
& services

N/A Lower than prior year 
by $592k mainly due to 
less consultancy work 
conducted during the 
period.

4 Payments Accom-
modation

Higher than estimate 
by $259k mainly due to 
accommodation trade 
payables being cleared 
prior to year end.

Higher than prior 
year by $351k mainly 
due to higher portion 
of accommodation 
payments being realised 
at year end.

5 Payments Grants 
and sub-
sidies

Lower than estimate by 
$1.271m due to delay in 
Commonwealth signing 
project implementation 
plan for NDRP and 
NBMP projects.

Lower than estimate by 
$806k due to delay in 
Commonwealth signing 
project implementation 
plan for NDRP and 
NBMP projects.

6 Payments Other 
payments

Lower than estimate by 
$202k due to budget 
items being misaligned 
as ‘Other expenses’ 
instead of ‘Supplies and 
services’ and will be 
corrected in 2017-18.

N/A

7 Receipts Common-
wealth 
grants 
and con-
tributions

Lower than estimate by 
$1.747m due to delay in 
Commonwealth signing 
project implementation 
plan for NDRP and 
NBMP projects.

Lower than prior year by 
$596k due to funding 
for the NBMP ceasing in 
June 2016.

8 Receipts Other 
receipts

Higher than estimate 
due to one off 
funding for the State 
Crisis Information 
Management System 
received in 2016–17.

Higher than prior 
year by $299k due to 
one-off funding for the 
State Crisis Information 
Management System 
received in 2016–17.

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

94



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

35 Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the sub-department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The sub-department has limited exposure to financial 
risks. The sub-department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks 
identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the sub-department’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the sub-department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance 
for impairment as shown in the table at note 35(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the sub-department’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than 
government, the sub-department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
sub-department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the sub-department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end 
of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the sub-department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The sub-department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The sub-department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows, including drawdown of 
appropriations, by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet 
its commitments.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 
will affect the sub-department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The sub-
department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The 
sub-department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates would relate primarily to long-
term debt obligations.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Cash and cash equivalents  64  501

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  6,106  5,141

Loans and receivables(a)  40  2

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  167  287

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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35 Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The folllowing table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The sub-department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the 
ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table 
is based on information provided to senior management of the sub-department. 

The sub-department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to 
the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

2017 

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

$000

Up to 1 
month

$000

1 – 3 
months

$000

3 – 12 
months

$000

1– 5 
years
$000

More 
than  

5 years
$000

Impaired 
financial 

assets
$000

Cash and cash equivalents  64  64  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  6,106  6,106  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Receivables(a)  82  82  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Other current assets  101  101  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Amounts receivable for 
services (holding account)  221  221  –  –  –  –  –  – 

 6,574  6,574  – –  –  –  –  – 

2016

Cash and cash equivalents  501  501  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  5,141  5,141  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Receivables(a)  57  57  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Other current assets  85  85  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Amounts receivable for 
services (holding account)  148  148 

 5,932  5,932  –  –  –  –  –  – 

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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35 Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures (cont.)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the sub-department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity 
analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and 
principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate 
exposure Maturity dates

 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
Interest 

Rate
%

Car-
rying 

amount
$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate
$000

Variable 
interest 

rate
$000

Non- 
interest 
bearing

$000

Nominal 
amount

$000

Up to 1 
month

$000

1 – 3 
months

$000

3 –12 
months

$000

1 – 5 
years
$000

More 
than 

5 years
$000

2017

Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents  –  64  –  –  64  64  64  –  –  –  – 

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents  – 

 
6,106  –  – 

 
6,106 

 
6,106 

 
6,106  –  –  –  – 

Receivables (a)  –  82  –  –  82  82  82  –  –  –  – 

Other current 
assets  –  101  –  –  101  101  101  –  –  –  – 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services (holding 
account)  –  221  – –  221  221  221  –  –  –  – 

 
6,574  –  – 

 
6,574 

 
6,574 

 
6,574  –  –  –  – 

Financial liabilities

Payables  –  167  –  –  167  167  167  –  –  –  – 

 167  –  –  167  167  167  –  –  –  – 

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

97



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate 
exposure Maturity dates

 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
Interest 

Rate
%

Car-
rying 

amount
$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate
$000

Variable 
interest 

rate
$000

Non- 
interest 
bearing

$000

Nominal 
amount

$000

Up to 1 
month

$000

1 – 3 
months

$000

3 –12 
months

$000

1 – 5 
years
$000

More 
than 

5 years
$000

2016

Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents  501  –  –  501  501  501 

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents  5,141  –  –  5,141  5,141  5,141 

Receivables (a)  57  –  –  57  57  57 

Other current 
assets  85  –  –  85  85  85 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services (holding 
account)  148  –  –  148  148  148 

 5,932  –  –  5,932  5,932  5,932  –  –  –  – 

Financial liabilities

Payables  287  –  –  287  287  287 

 287  –  –  287  287  287  –  –  –  – 

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

35 Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures (cont.)

State Emergency Management Committee and Office of Emergency Management Annual Report 2016–17

98



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
$000

2016
 $000

36 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the 
audit for the current financial period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance 
indicators  8  8

 8  8

37 Affiliated bodies
The State Emergency Management Committee and the sub-
department have no affiliated bodies.

38 Related bodies
The State Emergency Management Committee and the sub-
department have no related bodies.

39 Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs

No public property was written-off by the sub-department 
during the reporting period.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public money and public and other property 
through theft or default  –  –

Amounts recovered  –  –

Loss of other property through other causes  –  –

 –  –

(c) Gifts of public property

No gifts of public property were provided by the sub-
department.
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2017
$000

2016
 $000

40 Disclosure of administered income and expenses
INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS

Income

For transfer:

Administered appropriation(a)  45,300  –

Total administered income  45,300  –

Expenses

Grants and subsidies  57,276  –

Total administered expenses  57,276  –

(a)  The sub-department administers the payment of claims from government agencies and local authorities with funding of such claims being processed 
pursuant to the Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements. This function was transferred from the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet to the sub-department in December 2016.

41 Explanatory statement (administered funds)

Variance 
note Estimate Actual Actual

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016

Cost of services
2017

 $000 
2017

 $000 
2016

 $000  $000  $000 

Expenses

Grants to charitable and other 
public bodies

Western Australia Natural Disaster 
Relief and Recovery Arrangements  1  –  57,276  –  57,276  57,276 

Total administered expenses  –  57,276  –  57,276  57,276 

Income

Other

Western Australia Natural Disaster 
Relief and Recovery Arrangements  2  –  45,300  –  (45,300)  45,300 

Interest revenue  –  –  –  –  – 

Total administered income  –  45,300  –  (45,300)  45,300 
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41 Explanatory statement (administered funds) (cont.)

Commentary

Note 
State-
ment of 
Compre-
hensive 
Income

Note 
State-
ment of 
Financial 
Position

Note 
State-
ment of 
Cash 
Flows Allocation

Line 
Item

Variance estimate  
vs actuals

Variance Actuals  
vs Actuals

1 Expenses Grants 
to 
charita-
ble and 
other 
public 
bodies

Higher than estimate 
by $57.276m due 
to the budget 
being allocated to 
the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet 
(DPC) in 2016–17. 
See DPC website 
www.dpc.wa.gov.au 
for further details. 
The payments 
were mainly paid 
to Main Roads WA 
for eligible disaster 
claims under the 
Western Australia 
Natural Disaster 
Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements 
(WANDRRA).

Higher than prior 
year by $57.276m 
due to the budget 
being allocated to 
DPC in 2016–17. 
See DPC website 
www.dpc.wa.gov.au 
for further details. 
The payments 
were mainly paid 
to Main Roads WA 
for eligible disaster 
claims under the 
WANDRRA.

2 Income Other Higher than estimate 
by $45.3m due to 
the budget being 
allocated to DPC  
in 2016–17. See  
DPC website  
www.dpc.wa.gov.au 
for further details. 
The funds were used 
for eligible disaster 
claims under the 
WANDRRA.

Higher than prior 
year by $45.3m due 
to the budget being 
allocated to DPC  
in 2016–17. See  
DPC website  
www.dpc.wa.gov.au 
for further details. 
The funds were used 
for eligible disaster 
claims under the 
WANDRRA.
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2017
$000

2016
 $000

42 Administered assets and liabilities
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents – WANDRRA(a)  795  –

Total administered assets  795  –

Current liabilities

Payables –– WANDRRA(a)  9,499  –

Total administered liabilities  9,499  –

Net Liabilities  (8,704)

Equity

Equity transfer – Department of the Premier and Cabinet (b)  3,272  –

Accumulated deficits  (11,976)  –

Total administered equity (8,704)  –

(a)  The sub-department administers the payment of claims from government agencies and local authorities with funding of such claims being processed 
pursuant to the Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements. This function was transferred from the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet to the sub-department in December 2016.

(b)  During the reporting period, the Department of the Premier and Cabinet transferred funds to the sub-department to pay claims pursuant to the Western 
Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements.
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Key performance indicators

Certification of key performance indicators
As prescribed by Treasurer’s Instruction 904, the key performance indicators provide information to 
assist readers to assess the performance of the Office of Emergency Management in meeting its 
mission and outcomes.

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Office of Emergency Management’s performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the Office of Emergency Management for the financial year ended 
30 June 2017.

Mal Cronstedt
Accountable Authority

10 August 2017
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Key effectiveness indicator:  
Stakeholder assessment of strategic coordination of EM

For 2016–17, 71% of stakeholders consider OEM effective in their support to 
the SEMC in the strategic coordination of EM in Western Australia, exceeding the 
target of 60%.

WHY is this a key indicator of our 
performance?
A goal of OEM is to support the SEMC who 
have responsibility for the strategic oversight 
and coordination of EM in Western Australia. 
This indicator illustrates, from a stakeholder 
perspective, how effective the OEM is supporting 
the SEMC in achieving its strategic goals.

HOW is this indicator derived?
This indicator is based on an online survey that 
is distributed to EM stakeholders through an 
external agent. Stakeholders were emailed a link 
to the survey questionnaire. The survey period 
ran from 16 June 2017 until 30 June 2017, and 
315 stakeholders completed the survey. This 
compares with 290 respondents received the 
previous year. 

0 10 20 30 40 50

Very dissatisfied

Dissatisfied

Neither satisfied
nor dissatisfied

Satisfied

Very satisfied 22%

49%

27%

2%

0%

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Not at all
 satisfied

Slightly satisfied

Moderately
 satisfied

Very satisfied

Extremely
satisfied

9%

52%

26%

10%

3%

0 10 20 30 40 50

Very dissatisfied

Dissatisfied

Neither satisfied
nor dissatisfied

Satisfied

Very satisfied 20%

48%

27%

4%

1%

2016–17

Stakeholder assessment of strategic 
coordination of emergency management

2015–16

Stakeholder assessment of strategic 
coordination of emergency management

2014–15

Stakeholder assessment of strategic 
coordination of emergency management
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Stakeholders were asked a variety of questions, 
including how effective the OEM was in 
supporting the goal of strategic coordination 
of EM in Western Australia. The scale used 
for measuring responses was: very satisfied, 
satisfied, neither satisfied nor dissatisfied, 
dissatisfied and very dissatisfied.

The result was then derived by the sum of ‘very 
satisfied’ and ‘satisfied’ response options.

WHAT does this indicator show?
The majority of respondents indicated that they 
were very satisfied (22%) or satisfied (49%) with 
the effectiveness of the OEM.

In 2015–16 a slight variation to the wording of 
the survey was included. This was carried out to 
improve on suggestions brought to our attention 
in the previous year.

This benchmark performance measure will 
be used for future business planning and 
continuous improvement, and will provide 
comparative analysis for future annual reports.

This key performance indicator (KPI) is under 
review and may change subject to approval by 
the Treasurer.

Table 12. OEM target satisfaction level vs 
actual satisfaction level*

OEM 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17

Target 
satisfaction 
level

60% 60% 60%

Actual 
satisfaction 
level

61% 68% 71%

* Standard error is within 5% of the 95% confidence level.
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Key efficiency indicator:  
Average hourly cost of providing EM advice and consultation

The average hourly cost of providing EM advice and consultation is $51.  
This is below the target and the previous actual.

Table 13. Average hourly cost of providing 
EM advice and consultation

OEM 2014–15 2015–16* 2016–17

Target 
average 
hourly cost

$56 $56 $56

Actual 
average 
hourly cost

$54 $54 $51

*  Calculated on a 53-week year instead of 52 weeks. Using 52 weeks would 
result in $55 average hourly cost.

WHY is this a key indicator of our 
performance?
This indicator illustrates the OEM’s efficiency 
in meeting the government goal of results-
based service delivery in the provision of our 
key function, which is to provide EM advice and 
consultation.

HOW is this indicator derived?
This indicator is derived by dividing the total 
annual salary costs as represented by the actual 
costs for 2016–17 by the annualised hours per 
full-time equivalent (FTE).

The calculation excludes time spent on the 
resources committed to state projects funded by 
the National Disaster Resilience Program (NDRP) 
and for the members of the SEMC.

WHAT does this indicator show?
This indicator shows how efficient the OEM is 
in undertaking its core business (providing EM 
advice and consultation).

The average cost of providing EM advice has 
fallen by 5.6 per cent, compared with the 
previous year. This is as a result of increased 
OEM assurance and recovery functions being 
introduced, and is subsequently 8.7 per cent 
below target.

The original target was set at the inception of the 
agency and did not account for salary increases 
and changes to scope and scale of the agency’s 
business.

The total hours spent on providing EM advice 
and consultation for 2016–17 was 57,648, 
compared to 43,745 in 2015–16, an increase of 
almost 32 per cent, and an increase of 51 per 
cent when compared to 2014–15 (38,120 hours).

OEM salaries have increased by 2.5 per cent 
due to award increases, and staffing levels 
have increased by 7.5 FTE resulting from 
OEM assurance and recovery functions being 
introduced compared to the previous year.

This KPI is under review and may change subject 
to approval by the Treasurer. 
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4.  Disclosures 
and  
Legal 
Compliance
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Ministerial directives  
and communication

Ministerial directions
No ministerial directives were received during 
2016–17.

Ministerial communication
In accordance with s. 74 of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994, the OEM has an 
agreement with the Minister for Emergency 
Services that outlines communication 
procedures between the Minister’s office and 
OEM staff. This agreement ensures that the 
Minister receives accurate and timely information 
and advice.

Table 14. Ministerial communication

Ministerial communication 2016–17

Ministerial items:
• briefing notes
• contentious issues with briefing 

notes

81
9

Parliamentary questions 29
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Other financial disclosures

Indemnity insurance
As a sub-department of DFES, the OEM is 
indemnified as part of the process followed by 
DFES. Additional information can be found in the 
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Capital works
No capital works were undertaken by the OEM 
during 2016–17. OEM as a sub-department of 
DFES follows the processes and policy of the 
department. Additional information can be found 
in the DFES annual report 2016–17.

Employment and industrial relations
DFES is the employing authority for all OEM staff.

Table 15. Staff profile

Staff profile
2016–17, as 
at 30 June 

2017

2015–16 as 
at 30 June 

2016

Full-time 
permanent 20 16

Full-time contract 10 13

Part-time 
permanent 6 6

Part-time contract 4 2

Full-time 
secondment to 
OEM 3 2

Total (headcount) 43 39

Workplace management
OEM staff are covered by the Public Service 
Award 1992 and the Public Service and 
Government Officers General Agreement 2014, 
as well as the Public Sector Management Act 
1994.

No substantial changes are expected for the 
workforce in the immediate future for the agency.

Recruitment
OEM operates under a service agreement 
with DFES Human Resources for recruitment 
support. DFES undertakes many of the key 
processes for recruitment, such as classification 
benchmarking, provision of access to the online 
recruitment system (RAMS), and reinforcement 
of support with guidance, education and training.

Equity and diversity
As a sub-department of DFES, OEM follows and 
relies upon the framework provided by DFES, 
which includes:
• a strategic plan
• the equity and diversity committee
• an equity officer.

Additional information can be found in the  
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Staff development
OEM has a commitment to the development 
of its employees. Our strategies are to build a 
highly skilled, professional and fair workforce 
with the ability to adapt to changes in the 
business environment and to be responsive 
to changing community needs. Staff have 
access to formal staff development schemes 
offered by DFES. Staff have also been provided 
with a range of training and development 
opportunities predominantly occurring through 
the performance discussion process.

Additional information can be found in the  
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Leave liability management
OEM has formal leave management processes 
in place. A key strategy followed by OEM is to 
ensure staff are taking leave to support their 
welfare and wellbeing.
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Governance disclosures

Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal 
contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are 
members or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing 
or proposed contracts with the OEM and senior 
officers.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
Staff hold corporate credit cards where their role 
requires the purchase of goods and services. 
As part of each signed cardholder agreement, 
OEM makes staff aware of their obligations 
under the sub-department’s credit card policy. 
During the reporting period, two instances of 
personal use were identified and each of these 
was declared by the cardholder. As these 
matters were noted and settled promptly, the 
nature of the expenditure was immaterial and 
was characteristic of an honest mistake, no 
disciplinary action was taken.

Audit and risk management
The OEM Executive Director forms part of the 
DFES Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
This participation allows OEM to contribute to the 
annual audit program undertaken by its internal 
auditors. The Office of the Auditor General has 
appointed external auditors from Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu to audit DFES and subsequently OEM. 
Additional information can be found in the  
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Board and committee remuneration
The fees for SEMC members for the year ending 
30 June 2017 are as follows:

Table 16. Board and committee remuneration

Position Period of 
membership

Gross 
remuneration

Chair 
Mr Frank 
Edwards

1 July 2016 
to 30 June 
2017

$77,572.04  
per annum

Deputy 
Chair 
Ms Susan 
Ash

1 July 2016 
to 30 June 
2017

$54,267.20  
per annum

Member 
Mr Richard 
Simpson

1 July 2016 
to 30 June 
2017

$36,177.96  
per annum

Total $168,017.20
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Other legal requirements

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, s. 31(1))

In the administration of the Office of Emergency Management, I have complied with the Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics 
and the DFES Code of Conduct.

I have established procedures designed to ensure compliance (if not provided by DFES) and 
conducted appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made above is 
correct.

Breaches of Standards Review is included in DFES results. Additional Information can be found in the 
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Professional Standards is included in DFES results. Additional Information can be found in the  
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Mal Cronstedt
Accountable Authority

10 August 2017
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Other legal requirements

Advertising
In accordance with s. 175ZE of the Electoral Act 
1907, OEM incurred the following expenditure on 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail 
and media advertising:

Total expenditure for 2016–17 was $2,308.49

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Organisation 
type

Total by 
type Agency Amount

Advertising 
agencies

$2,308.49 Adcorp 
Australia 
Limited

$2,308.49

Market 
research

Polling 
organisations

Nil Nil

Direct mail 
Organisations

Nil Nil

Media 
advertising 
organisations

Nil Nil

Disability access and inclusion plan 
outcomes
The OEM is committed to following the 
outcomes of DFES’s Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan. Accommodation at Dumas 
House, 2 Havelock Street, West Perth, is 
considered to comply. With regard to formal 
OEM communications, the Communications 
Coordinator can provide information in alternative 
formats to assist stakeholders where requested. 
Additional information can be found in the  
DFES annual report 2016–17.

Compliance with public sector standards  
and ethical codes
OEM had no recorded breaches of standards 
reviews in the 2016–17 financial year.

Recordkeeping plans
OEM is subject to DFES’s Recordkeeping Plan. 
Presently, the OEM is implementing the TRIM 
records management system to integrate with 
DFES’s records management system. Additional 
information can be found in the DFES annual 
report 2016–17.

Freedom of information
DFES provides this service to the OEM. 
Information can be found in the DFES annual 
report 2016–17.

Occupational health and safety
DFES provides occupational safety, health and 
injury management and workers’ compensation 
services for OEM. All reporting occurs through 
the DFES online hazard reporting system. The 
OEM has a representative located at the Dumas 
House offices. Additional Information can be 
found in the DFES annual report 2016–17.

Reconciliation Action Plan
The OEM is committed to the DFES 
Reconciliation Action Plan. Additional Information 
can be found in the DFES annual report 2016–17.
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Government policy requirements

Government building contracts
The OEM has a commitment to the Government Building Training Policy, having altered prospective 
tender documentation and developed a monitoring plan for building and construction or maintenance 
projects with a duration of greater than three months, a value of greater than $2 million and tendered 
after 1 October 2015.

At the balance date, no contracts subject to the policy had been awarded.

The OEM did not undertake any works or issue any contracts within the scope of Government 
Building Training Policy (Premier’s Circular 2015-02 – Government Building Training Policy).
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Acronyms

AFSM Australian Fire Service Medal
AWARE  All West Australians Reducing Emergencies
Cwlth  Commonwealth of Australia
DEMC  district emergency management committee
DFES  Department of Fire and Emergency Services
DPC  Department of the Premier and Cabinet
EM  Emergency Management
EM Act Emergency Management Act 2005
GST goods and services tax
HMA hazard management agency
LEMA local emergency management arrangements
LEMC  local emergency management committees
NBMP National Bushfire Mitigation Program
NDRP  Natural Disaster Resilience Program
NERAG  National Emergency Risk Assessment Guidelines
NFP Not for profit
NPA  National Partnership Agreement
NPV  Nuclear Powered Warship
OASG  Operational Area Support Group
OBRM  Office of Bushfire Risk Management
OEM  Office of Emergency Management
PTA Public Transport Authority
RAMMS   Risk Assessment, Measurement and Mitigation Subcommittee
RAMS  online recruitment system
SBCC State Bushfire Coordinating Committee
SEMC State Emergency Management Committee
WA  Western Australia
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The annual report of the State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC) and Office of 
Emergency Management (OEM) has been produced in accordance with the Public Sector 
Annual Report Framework.
This report is copyright and may be reproduced provided the source is acknowledged. 
All photographs within have been used with permission and remain the property of the 
SEMC or the contributors.
The report has been produced in electronic format and is available to download from the 
OEM’s website in PDF. The report is available in alternative formats on request. For hearing 
or speech-impaired access, please contact the National Relay Service TTY 133 677.

© Government of Western Australia

Published September 2017  
by the Office of Emergency Management

Address:
Level 1, Dumas House, 
2 Havelock Street
West Perth
Western Australia 6005
Tel:  +61 8 6551 4029
Email: publications@oem.wa.gov.au
Website: www.oem.wa.gov.au
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